UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO ESPÍRITO SANTO CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS EXATAS PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM FÍSICA

TAYS MIRANDA DE ANDRADE

The very early universe: An analysis on inflationary and collapsing scenarios.

VITÓRIA 2020

UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO ESPÍRITO SANTO CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS EXATAS PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM FÍSICA

TAYS MIRANDA DE ANDRADE

The very early universe: An analysis on inflationary and collapsing scenarios.

Tese apresentada ao colegiado do Programa de Pós- Graduação em Física da Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo como requisito parcial para a obtenção do título de Doutor em Física.

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Oliver Fabio Piattella

Ficha catalográfica disponibilizada pelo Sistema Integrado de Bibliotecas - SIBI/UFES e elaborada pelo autor

Andrade, Tays Miranda de, 1991-

A553t

The very early universe : An analysis on inflationary and collapsing scenarios. / Tays Miranda de Andrade. - 2020. 105 f. : il.

Orientador: Oliver Fabio Piattella. Tese (Doutorado em Física) - Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo, Centro de Ciências Exatas.

1. Inflação. 2. Modelo de Starobinsky. 3. Campo escalar. 4. Universo colapsante. I. Piattella, Oliver Fabio. II. Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo. Centro de Ciências Exatas. III. Título.

CDU: 53



"The very early universe: An analysis on inflationary and collapsing scenarios"

Tays Miranda de Andrade

Tese submetida ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Física da Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo, por webconferência, utilizando MConf, como requisito parcial para a obtenção do título de Doutor em Física.

Aprovada por:

Prof. Dr. David Wands (ICG/Reino Unido)

Prof. Dr. Nelson Pinto Neto (CBPF/RJ)

Prof. Dr. Júlio César Fabris (PPGFis/UFES) Prof. Dr. Oliver Fabio Piattella (Orientador - PPGFis/UFES)

> Prof. Dr. Valerio Marra (PPGFis/UFES)

Prof. Dr. Davi Cabral Rodrigues (PPGFis/UFES)

Vitória-ES, 02 de abril de 2020

Resumo

A inflação é uma expansão acelerada que pode ter ocorrido a uma energia muito alta no Universo primordial. Além de trazer soluções para os problemas do modelo de big bang quente, ela também fornece um mecanismo efetivo para a produção das flutuações cosmológicas, as quais geram as estruturas em larga escala como vemos atualmente. Entretanto é importante evidenciar que a inflação não é o único mecanismo capaz de resolver esses problemas de condições iniciais do nosso universo. Cenários colapsantes podem ser uma opção alternativa para originar o big bang quente e as perturbações primordiais. Na primeira parte desta tese, nós apresentamos o cenário inflacionário, com ênfase no modelo de Starobinsky, discutindo sua configuração geral, predições e uma possível modificação à inflação de R^2 motivados pelos atratores- α . A segunda parte é dedicada à análise de cenários colapsantes, baseados em um campo escalar e um potencial exponencial, com a inclusão do formalismo estocástico, o qual nos permite calcular o barulho estocástico gerado por flutuações quânticas cruzando uma escala de corte para o campo escalar no limite super-Hubble.

Palavras-chave

Inflação, modelo de Starobinsky, campo escalar, potenciais exponenciais, universo colapsante.

Abstract

Inflation is an accelerated expansion that may occurred at very high energy in the early Universe. In addition to bringing a solution for the hot big bang model problems, it also provides an effective mechanism for the production of cosmological fluctuations, which give rise to the large scale structures as we see today. However, it is important to highlight that inflation is not the only mechanism capable of solving the initial issues of our Universe. Collapsing scenarios can be an alternative option to originate the hot Big Bang and the primordial perturbations. In the first part of this thesis, we present the inflationary scenario, with emphasis on the Starobinsky model, discussing its general set-ups, predictions and a possible modification to the R^2 inflation motivated by the α -Attractors. The second part is dedicated to the analysis of collapsing scenarios, based on a scalar field with exponential potential with inclusion of the stochastic formalism, which allows us to compute the stochastic noise generated by the quantum fluctuations crossing into a coarse grained, super-Hubble scalar field.

Keywords

Inflation, Starobinsky model, scalar field, exponential potentials, collapsing universe.

Acknowledgements

I would like to start this section with three sentences that defined my PhD, that I will certainly pass on to my future students, and can also serve as a stimulus for eventual PhD students who come to read this thesis:

"One *epsilon* at a time and at the end of the day, we will have a reasonable amount" (Oliver Piattella, 2016).

"Make it simple" (David Wands, 2018).

"A written page is always worth more than a blank page" (Júlio Fabris, 2015).

This work could not have been done without the help of my supervisor Oliver Piattella. I have no words to express how thankful I am for his contribution to this thesis, his advice, classes, and above all, I will always be grateful for his generosity in sharing knowledge. The first time I met Oliver, six years ago, I had just arrived in Vitória, with a huge love for theoretical physics, but at the same time with a lot of doubts whether it was really the right path for me. Oliver encouraged me to pursue this dream. His love for physics combined with tons of discipline taught me that hard and honest work is always worthwhile.

Also, I will always be indebted to my co-supervisor, David Wands, for his support, guidance and great humor. His talent, kindness and professionalism inspire me to be a better scientist and human being. Thanks to him, my stay in Portsmouth was very pleasant, and at the same time very productive.

I am grateful to Júlio Fabris, who has in several ways acted like a second supervisor to me. He was always available for any conversation about physics or technical problems, even if he didn't have much time for it.

A special thanks to my partner and collaborator Emmanuel Frion. I don't know what my personal and academic life would be like without him. His love and support were fundamental during these years and all the ones to come.

All my gratitude to my best friends, Carla Rodrigues Almeida, Gabriela Guerra Gordillo, and Paula Alguz Xavier, who always believed in me and made my life prettier. They are my heroines.

I would like to thank my collaborators, who taught me so much: Celia Escamilla-Rivera, Fulvio Sbisà, Pedro Baqui, Leonardo Giani and Sérgio Jorás.

To all my colleagues at UFES: Denis Campos Rodrigues, Rodrigo von Marttens, Olesya Galkina, Michael Gusson, Eddy Chirinos Isidro, David Camarena, Mariniel Galvão, Isaac Torres, Ingrid Costa, Nicolas Bertini, Raquel Fazolo, Jhonny Agudelo Ruiz, Igor Badke, and Thiago Caramês. Also to Chris Pattison, Bill Wright, Mike Kenna-Allison, and Matt Hull who were my nice office mates and helped me a lot during my "PhD Sandwich" at the ICG.

I want to thank the members of the Cosmo-Ufes group and the ICG for their support, helping me to obtain the necessary conditions to work on my research. Also, I wish to thank the PPGFis secretary, José Carlos, for being so helpful when dealing with administrative issues.

Finally, to my family: my mother, Marialva Miranda, my sister, Tayná Miranda, my brother, Manoel Neto, and my two beloved aunts, Andreza Kelly and Lúcia Miranda. You are my everything.

This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior - Brazil (CAPES) - Finance Code 001.

"Se as coisas são inatingíveis... ora! Não é motivo para não querê-las... Que tristes os caminhos, se não fora A presença distante das estrelas!"

Mário Quintana

List of Figures

3.1 This figure shows the marginalized joint 68% and 95% CL regions for n_s and rat $k = 0.002 \text{Mpc}^{-1}$ from Planck alone and in combination with BK14 or BK14 plus BAO data, compared to the theoretical predictions of selected inflationary models. Image credit: Ref.[1].

4.1 Left Panel. Evolution of the E-Models potentials (4.10) (red lines) and of the T-models potentials (4.23) (blue lines) for some values of α . The choices $\alpha = 1$ and $\alpha = 1/9$ are interesting because they reproduce the Starobinsky model and the chaotic inflation model [2, 3].

4.2 Left Panel. Evolution of the inflationary parameters n_s and r as functions of β derived from (4.30). The solid line is drawn for N = 55 whereas the dashed line represents the case N = 60. The dotted lines represent the observational constraints at 95% CL.

- 4.4 Upper panel. Evolution of the potential (4.10) for $\alpha = 1.1$ (dashed line) and $\alpha = 1.2$ (dotted line) compared with the Starobinsky case (solid line). Lower panel. Evolution of the potential (4.36) for $\delta = 0.05$ (upper dashed line) and $\delta = -0.05$ (lower dotted line) compared with the Starobinsky case (solid line).

36

4.5	Evolution of r , $n_{ m s}$, $eta_{ m s}$ and $lpha_{ m s}$ as functions of δ for $N~=~55$ (solid line) and	
	N= 60 (dashed line). The horizontal dotted line is the upper limit on r , at	
	95% confidence level, obtained by the Planck collaboration [4]. The horizontal	
	dotted lines enclose the 68% confidence level of the values of $n_{ m s}$ measured by	
	the Planck collaboration [4]	38
4.6	Evolution of r vs $n_{ m s}$, varying δ and for $N=55$ (solid line) and $N=60$ (dashed	
	line) with the marginalized 68% and 95% confidence level contours from Planck	
	2015 data	39
4.7	Left Panel. Evolution of ϵ as function of N for the Starobinsky model (solid	
	line) and the eta -model with $eta=1/2$ (dashed line). Right Panel. Evolution of	
	ζ as function of N for the Starobinsky model (solid line) and the eta -model with	
	eta=1/2 (dashed line)	44
4.8	Left Panel. Prediction of the Starobinsky model for $N=50$ (dashed line) and	
	$N=$ 60 (dotted line) on the space (n_s,r) . Right Panel. Prediction of the	
	eta -model for $N=50$ (dashed line) and $N=60$ (dotted line) on the space $(n_s,r).$	44
4.9	Left Panel. Evolution of $lpha_s$ as function of N for the Starobinsky model (solid	
	line) and the eta -model with $eta=1/2$ (dashed line). Right Panel. Running of	
	the spectral index for the eta -model showing the cases : $N=$ 50 (dashed line),	
	N=60 (dotted line) and $N=100$ (solid line)	44
4.10	Left Panel. Non-gaussianity parameter for the eta -model showing the cases :	
	N=50 (dashed line), $N=60$ (dotted line) and $N=100$ (solid line). Right	
	Panel. Non-gaussianity parameter evolution for the Starobinsky model (dashed	
	line) and the eta -model (solid line), with $eta=1/2$, as functions of N_{\cdot}	46
5.1	Phase-space for flat positive potentials, $\lambda^2 < 6$. Arrows indicate evolution in	
	cosmic time, t. Image Credit: Ref.[5]	52
5.2	Evolution for $n_{\rm s}$ as function of ν . The horizontal dotted lines enclose the 68%	
	confidence level of the values of $n_{ m s}$ measured by Planck collaboration 2018	64
5.3	Evolution of the Hubble rate, $ H $, in a pressureless collapse. For quantum diffu-	
	sion to lead to a deviation from the classical fixed point before the Hubble rate	
	reaches the Planck scale, $ H_{ t end} < M_{ m Pl}$, requires a very low initial energy scale,	
	$ H_* \ll H_{ t end} .$	66

List of Tables

5.1	Comparing the quantities H , \dot{a} , \ddot{a} and p for power-law inflation and collapse.	
	Although \dot{a} is negative in the collapse case, its magnitude $ \dot{a} $ is increasing. $p < 0$	
	is not allowed since this would requires $ ho_arphi+P_arphi<0.$	54
6.1	Table comparing the behaviour of δw for three cases in the limit $\sigma ightarrow$ 0: de	
	Sitter inflation $(u=3/2)$, ekpyrotic collapse $(u=1/2)$ and pressureless collapse	
	(u = -3/2).	68
B.1	Table showing how to write $p,~\lambda^2,~w,~ u$ and n_s-1 in terms of each of them	74

Contents

1	1 Introduction								
2	ACDM: An Introduction to The Cosmological Standard Model								
		2.0.1	Geometry	6					
		2.0.2	Dynamics	7					
		2.0.3	Composition	9					
	2.1 The problems of the hot Big Bang model								
		2.1.1	The horizon problem	12					
		2.1.2	The flatness problem	13					
3	Rev	iew of	Cosmological Inflation	15					
	3.1	Single	field inflation	15					
		3.1.1	The inflaton	15					
	3.2	Cosmo	logical perturbations	18					
		3.2.1	Equation of Motion for the Perturbations	19					
4	f(R) Theo	ry, The Starobinsky Model and Inflation	25					
	4.1	Recons	structing the $lpha$ -Attractors from an $f(R)$ theory $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	25					
		4.1.1	$f(R)$ theory \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	26					
		4.1.2	Dynamical system perspective	27					
		4.1.3	The α -Attractors: E-models	28					
		4.1.4	The α -Attractors: T-models	31					
		4.1.5	A power law extension of the Starobinsky model	32					
		4.1.6	Study of the single power law $f(R)$ inflationary model \ldots \ldots \ldots	34					
	4.2	Generi	c slow roll and non-gaussianity parameters in $f(R)$ theories \ldots \ldots	39					
		4.2.1	Generic slow roll parameters for a $f(R)$ model \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	40					
		4.2.2	Generic non-gaussianities for a $f(R)$ model	45					

5 Alternative to Inflation						
	5.1	Collapsing universe		49		
		5.1.1	Background phase-space	50		
		5.1.2	Scalar field and metric perturbations	53		
		5.1.3	Scalar field perturbations in a power-law collapse	54		
	5.2	Stocha	astic formalism	56		
		5.2.1	Stochastic noise from quantum fluctuations	56		
		5.2.2	Perturbations in phase-space variables	59		
		5.2.3	Quantum diffusion in phase-space	60		
		5.2.4	Maximum lifetime of the collapsing phase	64		
6	Fina	inal Considerations				
A	Appendices 70					
Α	Det	Detailed investigation of the differential equation (4.11)				
В	Mapping between p , λ^2 , w , $ u$ and n_s-1					
С	Kinetic-dominated solution			75		
D	D Next-to-leading order field contribution			76		
Ε	A different approach to find the noise					
F	Fourier transform on a finite domain					
Bi	3ibliography 8					

Introduction

Cosmic Inflation [6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12], which is a phase of accelerated expansion that occurred in the early Universe, has an important place in Modern Cosmology. It was first invoked due to its ability to solve some of the puzzles plaguing the hot Big Bang model (e.g. the flatness and the horizon problems). Moreover, it did not take much time to realise that inflation could be a possible explanation for the seeds which generate the large scale structures in our Universe. Indeed, an initial power spectrum due to quantum vacuum fluctuations can be originated during inflation by using a simple model: a self interacting and slowly rolling scalar field. So, given its ability to make predictions on the primordial power spectrum, which can be tested through observation of the cosmic background radiation (CMB) [13, 1], inflation has become a very active field of research nowadays.

Since the first inflationary solution, proposed by Starobinsky in [6], many other proposals have been put forward. These have been classified and statistically analysed in many works, see e.g. [14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19], and the result is that data favour the simplest category of inflationary models: single-field slow-roll inflation, with a plateau potential. The typical representative of this class of models is the Starobinsky model, which can be expressed within the framework of f(R) theories [20] as the following quadratic correction to the Einstein-Hilbert action

$$f(R) = R + rac{R^2}{6M^2} \;,$$
 (1.1)

where M is an arbitrary energy scale, typically $M \sim 10^{13}$ GeV [21].

The predictions of the Starobinsky model on the fundamental inflationary parameters, i.e. the scalar spectral index n_s and the tensor-to-scalar ratio r are in very good agreement with the latest Planck results [1]. However, there is a looseness in r due to our current inability to detect the B-modes of CMB polarisation, which carry crucial information about the primordial gravitational wave background. This looseness might be threatening to the primacy of the Starobinsky model if, for example, a sufficiently large r was eventually detected. In this case the Starobinsky model would be ruled out. In this sense it is interesting to explore new

theoretical scenarios which could allow more freedom to tune the gravitational wave production maintaining the behavior of n_s , as it happens for the Starobinsky model.

As an example of these scenarios, recently a new class of inflationary models dubbed α -Attractors has been proposed in [22, 23, 24]. Remarkably, the predictions for this class of models are very similar to those of the Starobinsky model, so that the excellent agreement with observations for the parameter n_s is maintained, while there is freedom to tune the gravitational wave production through the parameter α .

It is the first purpose of this thesis to answer the following question: how should we modify the Starobinsky model in the f(R) framework in order to have a larger production of gravitational waves? Therefore, we reconstruct a f(R) theory which could mimic the α -Attractors scalar potential and do an extensive study of it, as shown in Chapter 4.

On the other hand, we also are interested on investigating another possibility that could explain the origin of primordial perturbations of our Universe: the case in which they originate before the Big Bang. Since there is no single agreed model for which a fundamental field is responsible for driving inflation and generating structure, we also can construct theories in which the large scale structure of our Universe could be inherited from vacuum fluctuations during an earlier phase, before the Big Bang. In this context, another possibility to generate the primordial perturbations would be a preceding collapse. The first proposal in which the collapse phase could set the initial conditions for a subsequent post-big bang phase was made by Gasperini and Veneziano [25]. Since then, several models have been presented, see e.g. [26, 5, 27].

It has been investigated before that a scalar field and an exponential potential can drive an accelerated expansion and thus provide possible models for inflation in the early universe [28, 29, 30] or dark energy at the present epoch [31, 32]. It has been also shown that the same mechanism can drive a collapsing universe too, and this configuration is particularly interesting since due to their scale-invariant form, exponential potentials are simple to study analytically. In order to explore this simplicity, we will focus our attention on models with a scalar field φ and scalar potential

$$V = V_0 \exp(-\kappa\lambda\varphi)$$
, (1.2)

where $\kappa = \sqrt{8\pi G}$ and λ is the slope of the potential. Although the classical stability of collapsing models has already been studied in previous works [5], it becomes of paramount importance to consider how the classical solutions behave in the presence of quantum fluctuations. To do this we will extend the stochastic formalism, previously introduced to study inflation, to collapse scenarios. This approach models the effect of quantum vacuum fluctuations by introducing a cut-off scale (the so-called coarse-graining scale) splitting the fluctuations into two parts: quantum vacuum modes (below the coarse-graining scale) and the long wavelength field which includes a stochastic noise. It was introduced in cosmology by Starobinsky [33] to describe the effects of random vacuum fluctuations on inflationary dynamics, see e.g. [34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39]. More recently, this formalism was used in [40] to show that slow-roll inflation is a stochastic attractor.

The presence of a stochastic noise can affect the stability of a dynamical system in a non-trivial way. The second purpose of this thesis is to investigate how these stochastic perturbations can modify the equation of state of the inflationary or collapse cosmology, as shown in Chapter 5.

Although our work aims to analyse physics of the very early universe, it is more convenient to start our study by describing the universe today, since the late universe can provide a wide range of information about its beginning. So, we shall begin this thesis by presenting the Standard Model of Cosmology, and discussing problems that arise with the initial conditions of evolution of the universe - the horizon and flatness problems in Chapter 2. Having presented the problems, we will begin Chapter 3 which proposes inflation as solution of these problems. We will describe the dynamics of the scalar field that would drive the inflationary phase and present its predictions. Sections 4 and 5 are dedicated to the papers published during this thesis, [41, 42, 43]. Finally, in a last section, we present some concluding remarks and possible prospects for the present work. Throughout this thesis we will use the convention of natural units: $\hbar=1$, $k_B=1$ and c=1.

ACDM: An Introduction to The Cosmological Standard Model

In the precision era, the high accuracy observational data such as CMB measurements, galaxy and supernova surveys, 21 cm astrophysics data, gravitational waves detectors and others have put Cosmology as a genuine science, since we are able to make and test theoretical predictions. We start this chapter revisiting the basis of the Cosmological Standard Model, which is discussed in references such as [44, 45, 46, 47, 48]. We will give a brief overview of this model, and arise questions left by it, which can be solved by introducing an accelerated expansion right after the Big Bang.

We have accurate observational evidence that the current Cosmological Standard Model, known as Λ CDM (Lambda Cold Dark Matter), describes the evolution of our Universe since an initial singularity 13.8 billion years ago. This model is based on the Cosmological Principle and has two exotic components: dark matter and dark energy (in the form of a cosmological constant). It is based on three observational pillars [49]

- The Hubble diagram, showing the expansion of the universe [50];
- Light elements abundance, according to the nucleosynthesis theory suggested initially by Gamow [51];
- The detection of cosmic microwave background radiation (CMB) as a spectrum of black body, which gives us information about a very early time in the universe and proves its homogeneity [52];

Geometry

The cosmological principle symmetries, which state that the Universe is isotropic and homogeneous at large scales [$\sim O(100)$ Mpc], fix the form of the metric that encodes the geometry of the spacetime as the Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker (FLRW) metric

$$ds^2 = -dt^2 + a^2(t) \left[rac{dr^2}{1 - \mathcal{K}r^2} + r^2 d\Omega^2
ight] \;,$$
 (2.1)

where a(t) is the scalar factor, $\mathcal{K} = -1, 0, 1$ is the curvature parameter and $d\Omega^2 = d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta d\phi^2$ is the standard metric on the 2-sphere. In this metric, t is the cosmic time, r is the comoving radial coordinate, θ and ϕ are the comoving angular coordinates.

As physical results depend on the physical coordinate, $r_{phys} = a(t)r$, we calculate the physical velocity of an object as

$$v_{phys} = rac{dr_{phys}}{dt} = arac{dr}{dt} + rrac{da}{dt}$$
 (2.2)

$$\equiv v_{pec} + Hr_{phys} , \qquad (2.3)$$

where v_{pec} is the peculiar velocity of the object, which is the velocity measured by an observer who follows the Hubble flow, and $H = \dot{a}/a$ is the Hubble parameter. If we neglect the peculiar velocity, this becomes the Hubble-Lemaître law and its first observation was in 1929 [50]. The current value of H is denoted by H_0 , and it contains important information on our Universe since it is related to the age of the Universe and to the scale of the size of the observable Universe. An issue for cosmologists now is that current observations do not agree on the value of the parameter H_0 : In 2019, Reid et al. [53] showed the local measurement of the Hubble constant is $H_0 = 75 \pm 1.4$ km s⁻¹ Mpc⁻¹; which is higher than $H_0 = 67.4 \pm 0.5$ km s⁻¹ Mpc⁻¹ given by the Planck Collaboration [54].

In a FRLW spacetime, light travels along geodesics with ds = 0 towards the observer at rest¹. As we observe today electromagnetic waves emitted in different periods of the universe,

¹The universe is homogeneous and isotropic, so the observer should not measure any spacial velocity, $d\theta = d\phi = 0$.

light gets redshifted because of the time dependence of the scale factor. So it is convenient to define the redshift parameter

$$1+z=rac{
u_1}{
u_0}=rac{a(t_0)}{a(t_1)}\,,$$
 (2.4)

where z is the redshift parameter, and we are considering that light was emitted from its source at time t_1 with frequency ν_1 , and received by the observer at t_0 with frequency ν_0 . If we think in terms of wavelengths, it is clear that the wavelength of light contracts and stretches according to the scale factor $\lambda \propto a$.

By introducing the conformal time

$$d\eta = rac{dt}{a(t)} \ ,$$
 (2.5)

equation (2.1) can be written in the comoving frame as

$$ds^2 = a^2(\eta) \left[-d\eta^2 + rac{dr^2}{1-{\cal K}r^2} + r^2 d\Omega^2
ight] \;,$$
 (2.6)

which means that, in this form, we have a static metric multiplied by the conformal factor $a^2(\tau)$.

Dynamics

The dynamics of the gravitational field, which relates the geometry of spacetime with its material content, is described by the action

$$S=rac{1}{2\kappa}\int d^{4}x\sqrt{-g}\left(R-2\Lambda
ight)+\int d^{4}x\sqrt{-g}\mathcal{L}_{m}\;,$$
 (2.7)

where $\kappa = 8\pi G = 1/M_{Pl}^2$ is the coupling constant, g is the determinant of the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, R is the Ricci scalar, Λ is the cosmological constant and \mathcal{L}_m is the lagrangian density which describes the matter content.

By varying the above action with respect to $g_{\mu\nu}$, we obtain the Einstein equations

$$R_{\mu
u} - rac{1}{2}g_{\mu
u}R + g_{\mu
u}\Lambda = \kappa T_{\mu
u} \;,$$
 (2.8)

Since we are considering scales above 100 Mpc, the matter content of the universe, represented by $T_{\mu\nu}$, can be seen as a perfect fluid

$$T_{\mu\nu} = (\rho + P)u_{\mu}u_{\nu} + Pg_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (2.9)$$

where ρ is the energy density, P is pressure and u_{μ} is the four-velocity of the fluid.

When we apply the geometry given by (2.1) into the components of (2.8), we obtain the two following dynamical equations²

$$H^2 = rac{\kappa
ho}{3} - rac{k}{a^2} + rac{\Lambda}{3} \; ,$$
 (2.10)

$$\frac{\ddot{a}}{a} = -\frac{\kappa}{6} \left(\rho + 3P\right) + \frac{\Lambda}{3} , \qquad (2.11)$$

which are known as the Friedmann and the Raychaudhuri equations, respectively. The former shows a relation between the change of the scale factor and energy density, spatial curvature and cosmological constant of the universe. Since in this thesis we are focused in the study of the very early universe, k and Λ can be neglected, and the new Friedmann equation states that the expansion (or contraction) of the universe is governed by the energy density, only. From the latter, we can see that in absence of a cosmological constant, there is an accelerated expansion only if we violate the strong energy condition, *i.e.*, $\rho + 3P < 0$. This is the root of the inflationary scenario and will be studied in more details in Chapter 3.

²From the four equations found, only two are independents. The three equations with spatial components are equivalent, as they reflect the isotropy of the metric.

Composition

Equations (2.10) and (2.11) when combined give rise to the conservation equation

$$\dot{
ho} + 3H(
ho + P) = 0$$
, (2.12)

which may also be derived from the conservation of energy-momentum $\nabla_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$.

We will solve the conservation equation by using the ansatz $P = w\rho$, with w constant. Its solution is

$$ho =
ho_0 \left(rac{a}{a_0}
ight)^{-3(1+w)} \ o \ a = a_0 \left(rac{t}{t_0}
ight)^{rac{2}{3(1+w)}} \ .$$
 (2.13)

By using w constant, we were able to solve analytically (2.12) keeping a realistic approach, since there are three particular values of w which play an important role in the evolution of our Universe. They are

- Radiation: $w_r = 1/3
 ightarrow
 ho_r \propto a^{-4}$ and $a \propto t^{1/2};$
- Cold matter: $w_b=0
 ightarrow
 ho_b\propto a^{-3}$ and $\ a\propto t^{2/3};$
- Dark energy: $w_\Lambda = -1 o
 ho_\Lambda \propto a^0$ and $a \propto e^{Ht}$;

In an universe in which the total energy density contains: radiation (photons and neutrinos) ρ_{τ} ; baryonic matter (also known as cold matter or dust, since it is non relativistic) ρ_b ; dark matter ρ_c ; and dark energy ρ_{Λ} ; Equation (2.10) becomes³

$$H^2 = H_0^2 \left(\frac{\Omega_r}{a^4} + \frac{\Omega_b}{a^3} + \frac{\Omega_c}{a^3} + \frac{\Omega_{\nu}^{\text{nrel}}}{a^3} + \Omega_{\Lambda} + \frac{\Omega_k}{a^2} \right) , \qquad (2.14)$$

³Note also that the spatial curvature can be identified as a fluid with w = 1/3.

where the dimensionless density parameter Ω for each one of the four first components, and the density parameter Ω for curvature are defined by, respectively

$$\Omega_i = rac{8\pi G}{3H^2}
ho_i \quad ext{with} \quad i=r,b,c,\Lambda \;, \quad ext{and} \quad \Omega_k = -rac{k}{a^2H^2} \;.$$

The definition of critical density for a flat universe (k = 0) is

$$ho_{
m crit} = rac{3H_0^2}{8\pi G} \;,
ightarrow (2.16)$$

and we could relate the critical density to the density parameter by

$$\Omega_i = \frac{\rho_i}{\rho_{\rm crit}} . \tag{2.17}$$

Equation (2.14) is the Friedmann equation for the most successful model in Cosmology, the Λ CDM, which is made of dark energy Λ , cold dark matter⁴, ordinary matter and radiation. From Planck 2018 [54], the up-to-date values for the current density parameters of each component are: $\Omega_{\Lambda,0} \sim 70\%$; $\Omega_{c,0} \sim 25\%$; $\Omega_{b,0} \sim 5\%$; $\Omega_{r,0} + \Omega_{\nu,0} \sim 0.01\%$;

Current data still indicates that the universe is spatially flat, since we have a small density parameter

$$\Omega_{k,o} = 0.0007^{+0.0037}_{-0.0037}, \qquad (2.18)$$

at the 95% confidence level.

We treated radiation, baryonic matter and dark energy as a perfect conservative fluid, so the temporal evolution of each of them (with respect to the scale factor) is obtained by the solution of (2.13), and this allows us to see in which phase of the universe each one of them dominated. By considering the standard cosmological model, after inflation, the universe had

⁴Although it has a distinct nature from ordinary matter, dark matter also is treated as cold, which means it has no pressure, so its parameter of state is given by w = 0. This makes impossible to distinguish both of them at background level.

a phase of domination of radiation, followed by a phase of domination of matter until reaching a current phase of predominance of dark energy.

Also, it is important to highlight that the Universe has inhomogeneities. From CMB observations [55, 56], we know that there are temperature fluctuations $\delta T/T \sim O(10^{-5})$. These tiny fluctuations confirm the Universe is homogeneous and isotropic to at least one part in 100,000. However, these deviations are a fundamental prediction of the inflationary cosmology, as we will see in Chapter 3.

The problems of the hot Big Bang model

In principle, we would like to describe a physical system given its initial conditions, but it is somewhat philosophical to question whether the initial conditions necessary for evolution of the system are contained in the theory or they are separate from it. For example, in Classical Mechanics, we know that given the initial position and velocity, we can use the laws of Newton to describe the trajectory of a body. But we still do not know if Cosmology has as a role in predicting or even explaining the primary conditions required. Obviously, we want to avoid imposing very restrictive initial conditions to observe the universe as it is today. So in this section, based on [57], we will describe two problems the usual Big Bang theory faces for the universe to evolve to its current state, and we will show that these problems can be solved if we consider the universe had a phase of quasi de Sitter⁵, right after leaving its quantum stage, which is the main idea of inflation.

11

⁵It is important to note that this is only a phase because if the Hubble parameter does not evolve over time, inflation continues indefinitely, making the universe a huge emptiness with very low temperatures - a pure de Sitter universe, but of course this is in contradiction with current observations. Then, inflation has to end and the vacuum energy must turn into thermal energy for the universe. This mechanism is known as reheating [58, 59], and it consists of the decay of vacuum energy in particles, resulting in the increase of entropy of the universe and the beginning of the era dominated by radiation.

The horizon problem

This is a causality problem and could be reformulated as the following question: Why CMB is so uniform?

The photons we see today are those emitted from the surface of last scattering (380.000 years ago). The angular diameter distance d_A on the last scattering surface is given by

$$d_A(t) = a(t) \int_{t_i}^t rac{dt'}{a(t')}$$
 (2.19)

$$d_A(t_0) \sim H_0^{-1}(1+z_L)^{-1}$$
 (2.20)

Knowing that the horizon size in an universe dominated by matter and radiation at decoupling time is

$$d_H(t_{dec}) \sim H_0^{-1} (1+z_L)^{-3/2} ,$$
 (2.21)

since a(t) grows as $t^{2/3}$ in the epoch of the last scattering, the ratio between the particle horizon at the decoupling time and the particle horizon today is $d_H(t_{dec})/d_A(t_0) \sim 1.6^\circ$, for $z_L \sim 1100$. This means that in an universe dominated by matter or radiation, no physical influence could have smoothed out initial inhomogeneities and brought about the almost same temperature points that were separated by more than 2° initially.

If we suppose the universe had an inflationary phase before the radiation era, with $H \approx$ constant, the scalar factor behaves as

$$a(t) = a_i e^{H_I(t-t_i)} \rightarrow a(t) = a_I e^{-H_I(t_I-t)}$$
, (2.22)

where the subscripts "i" and "I" represent the beginning and end of the inflationary era, respectively. Now, (2.19) becomes

$$d_H(t_L) = a(t) \int_{t_i}^{t_L} dt' rac{1}{a_I} e^{H_I(t_I - t')} = rac{a(t_L)}{a_I H_I} [e^N - 1] , \qquad (2.23)$$

were $N = H_I(t_L - t_i)$ is the number of e-folds of expansion during inflation. In order to solve the horizon problem, $e^N \gg 1$, so we can drop the term -1 in square brackets.

To satisfy the high degree of isotropy presented by CMB at large scales, we need

$$d_H(t_L) > d_A(t_L) ,$$
 (2.24)

being $d_A \approx a/H_0$ for small scale factors.

The condition (2.24) for the isotropy of CMB is then

$$e^N > \frac{a_I H_I}{a_0 H_0}$$
 (2.25)

The flatness problem

The non relativistic and relativistic contributions to the total energy density of the universe ρ grow as a^{-3} and a^{-4} , respectively, so in the beginning of the expansion, we can neglect k, and the Friedmann equation becomes

$$H o rac{\kappa}{3}
ho$$
 , (2.26)

i.e., in the primordial universe the density of the material content is equivalent to the critical density $3H^2/\kappa$.

On the other hand, data from the redshift-distance relation of observed supernovae Type Ia, age measurements of old stars and CMB temperature fluctuations data favor a curvature density $\Omega_k \approx 0$. So, using the constraint from the Friedmann equation

$$\Omega_T + \Omega_k = 1 , \qquad (2.27)$$

where $\Omega_T = \Omega_r + \Omega_c + \Omega_b + \Omega_\Lambda$, we would expect $|\Omega_k| < 1$, but $\Omega_k = -k/a^2 H^2 = k/\dot{a}^2$, which increases with time.

At the time when there is domination of non-relativistic matter (from the stage when the universe temperature dropped from 10^4 K until close to the present time), $a \propto t^{2/3}$, so $|k|/\dot{a}^2$ also grows with $t^{2/3} \propto T^{-1}$. So if we consider $|\Omega_k| < 1$, when the universe had a temperature of 10^4 K, the curvature parameter had to be of the order of 10^{-4} . If we go back more in the history of the universe and consider the era of radiation, $|k|/\dot{a}^2$ grows with $t \propto T^{-2}$. Again, for $|k|/\dot{a}^2$ not to be less than 10^{-4} when $T = 10^4$ K, it would be necessary that $|k|/\dot{a}^2$ was of the order of 10^{-16} in the primordial nucleosynthesis phase and even lower in older times. This means that a flat universe today was much more flat in the past. This would require a huge fine tuning of the spatial curvature of the primordial universe.

In order to solve this problem, we will consider the inflationary phase, as we did in the horizon problem.

If $|k|/a_i^2 H_i^2 \sim O(1)$ in the beginning of inflation, in the end it would be of order

$$rac{|k|}{a_I^2 H_I^2} = e^{-2N} rac{|k|}{a_i^2 H_i^2} pprox e^{-2N} \;.$$
 (2.28)

Today $(a_0 = 1)$ we would have

$$|\Omega_{k,0}| = rac{|k|}{H_0^2} = rac{|k|}{a_I^2 H_I^2} \left(rac{a_I^2 H_I^2}{H_0^2}
ight) = e^{-2N} rac{a_I^2 H_I^2}{H_0^2} < 1 \;.$$
 (2.29)

So the flatness problem would be avoided if the expansion during inflation had a limit given by

$$e^N > rac{a_I H_I}{H_0}$$
, (2.30)

which matches the condition to solve the horizon problem.

Review of Cosmological Inflation

In this chapter, we will review some of the fundamental aspects of inflation by showing a simple, but powerful configuration which generates inflation, and its predictions, based in references such as [44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 60, 57]. Our main goal is to discuss the context which motivate our results presented in Sec.4.

Single field inflation

It is clear to see that the condition $\ddot{a} > 0$ solves the Hot Big Bang problems presented before. Now the question is: what kind of matter component could drive such an accelerated phase?

The inflaton

A simple and successful way to achieve inflation is by considering a quantum scalar field (named inflaton) rolling slowly down its potential. The action of such a system in a general cosmological background is given by

$$S = \int \sqrt{-g} \left[rac{M_{Pl}^2}{2} R - rac{1}{2} g^{\mu
u} \partial_\mu \varphi \partial_
u \varphi - V(\varphi)
ight] \,.$$
 (3.1)

The energy-momentum tensor of φ is

$$T^{\varphi}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\varphi\partial_{\nu}\varphi - g_{\mu\nu} \left[\frac{1}{2}g^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\varphi\partial_{\beta}\varphi + V(\varphi)\right] .$$
(3.2)

15

By considering the spatial curvature k=0 in a FLRW spacetime, the energy density ho_{arphi} and the pressure P_{arphi} of the scalar field are given by¹

$$ho_arphi = -T_0^{0(arphi)} = rac{1}{2} \dot{arphi}^2 + V(arphi) \ , ext{(3.3)}$$

$$P_{\varphi} = T_i^{i(\varphi)} = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\varphi}^2 - V(\varphi) .$$
 (3.4)

Thus, the parameter w of the equation of state for φ is given by

$$w = \frac{P_{\varphi}}{\rho_{\varphi}} = \frac{\dot{\varphi}^2 - 2V(\varphi)}{\dot{\varphi}^2 + 2V(\varphi)} . \tag{3.5}$$

We already know that inflation requires an accelerated expansion of the universe, and this condition can be fulfilled in the case of a scalar field if

$$V(\varphi) \gg \dot{\varphi}^2.$$
 (3.6)

To obtain $w \leq -1$, the function $V(\phi)$ can be left unspecified. In fact, the origin of the inflaton is still unknown, and there are several possibilities for the shape of $V(\phi)^2$. Going further, condition (3.6) shows that when the potential energy dominates over its kinetic energy, the inflaton slowly rolls down its potential and inflation is achieved. For this to happen, the inflaton potential also must be sufficiently flat, which could be a challenge in the context of string theory or supergravity [61, 62].

The inflationary dynamics can be obtained by varying action (3.1) in terms of φ . Its equation of motion is

$$rac{d^2 arphi}{dt^2} + 3H rac{d arphi}{dt} + rac{\partial V(arphi)}{\partial arphi} = 0 \;,$$
 (3.7)

¹We are considering a homogeneous field and setting $\nabla \varphi/a \rightarrow 0$, since inflation rapidly smooths out the spatial variation.

²One of the most important issues in inflationary cosmology is how to distinguish different models which provide almost the same predictions on the inflationary parameters.

which is the Klein-Gordon equation, and it is subject to the Friedmann constraint

$$3H^2 = rac{
ho_{arphi}}{M_{Pl}^2} \,.$$
 (3.8)

Here, it is important to show that by inserting the Klein-Gordon equation into the time derivative of the Friedmann constraint, we obtain a new way to write the acceleration equation

$$\dot{H}=-rac{1}{2M_{Pl}^{2}}\dot{arphi}^{2}\ ,$$
 (3.9)

which can be very useful in this context.

From (3.7), it is clear that the potential acts like a force $(\partial V/\partial \varphi)$, and in the second term, the expansion of the universe adds friction, increasing the time that the scalar field takes to reach the minimum of its potential.

The condition (3.6) assures that H is nearly constant

$$V(arphi) \gg \dot{arphi}^2 o H^2 \simeq rac{V(arphi)}{3M_{Pl}^2} \ ,$$
 (3.10)

leading to quasi-exponential expansion $a \sim e^{Ht}$. Also, to assure inflation is prolonged enough time, we need the second condition

$$\ddot{arphi} \ll 3H\dot{arphi} \ o 3H\dot{arphi} \simeq -rac{\partial V}{\partial arphi} \ ,$$
 (3.11)

which allowed us to drop the double derivative in (3.7).

These conditions are equivalent to requiring the slow roll parameters [63, 60]

$$\epsilon_H = -rac{\dot{H}}{H^2} , \quad \eta_H = -rac{\ddot{arphi}}{H\dot{arphi}} , \quad \xi_H = rac{\dot{\epsilon}_H - \dot{\eta}_H}{H} , \qquad (3.12)$$

to be small ϵ , η , $\xi \ll 1$. The slow roll parameters are fundamental quantities, since they enable us to compute straightforwardly the scalar index, n_s , the tensor-to-scalar ratio, r, and

the running of the spectral index, α_s .

The amount of inflation is quantified by the number of e-folds

$$\Delta N = \int_{t_i}^{t_f} H dt = -rac{1}{M_{Pl}^2} \int_{arphi_i}^{arphi_f} rac{\partial \phi}{\partial V} V(\phi) d\phi \;,$$
 (3.13)

where $\Delta N = N_f - N_i$, and φ_f is the value of the field at the end of inflation, which is found by the condition $\epsilon(\varphi_f) \approx 1$ (or, $\eta(\varphi_f) \approx 1$).

We know that the total number of inflationary e-folds should exceed about 60 in order to solve the horizon and flatness problems. The precise value depends on the energy scale of inflation and on the details of reheating after inflation. The fluctuations observed in the CMB are created during approximately $N_{\rm CMB} \simeq 50 - 60$ e-foldings before the end of inflation. Therefore, we use these numbers to have a precise prediction on the values of the slow-roll parameters and then on the spectral index.

An interesting way to know if a given potential $V(\varphi)$ is suitable to generate inflation (in the slow roll regime) is to compute the *potential* slow roll parameters, which are related to the Hubble parameters by

$$\epsilon_V \approx \epsilon_H$$
, where $\epsilon_V \equiv \frac{M_{Pl}^2}{2} \left(\frac{V_{\varphi}}{V}\right)^2$, (3.14)

$$\eta_V pprox \epsilon_H + \eta_H \;, \quad ext{where} \quad \eta_{ ext{V}} = ext{M}_{ ext{Pl}}^2 rac{ ext{V}_{arphi arphi}}{ ext{V}} \;, \tag{3.15}$$

$$\xi_V \approx \xi_H + 2\epsilon_H (3\eta_H - \epsilon_H)$$
, where $\xi_V \equiv M_{\rm Pl}^4 \frac{V_{\varphi} V_{\varphi\varphi\varphi}}{V^2}$, (3.16)

here, $V_{\varphi} = \partial V / \partial \varphi$.

Cosmological perturbations

In addition to solving the horizon and flatness problems, cosmic inflation is also recognised for being the mechanism from which the primordial perturbations present on large scales in our Universe are generated. This happens because during inflation, both the scalar and metric fields undergo quantum-mechanical fluctuations, and observational consequences of the inflationary scenario can be derived [64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69]. In this section, we obtain the observables \mathcal{P}_{ζ} , n_s , r, and α_s from the dynamics of the inflationary field. Since scalar and tensor perturbations are generated in a similar way, we shall begin with a qualitative description of the effects of the former and then, extend it to the latter.

Equation of Motion for the Perturbations

We will derive the inflationary spectrum of a simple model with a scalar field in an intuitive way. To start, let us break the homogeneity assumption of φ by considering

$$arphi = arphi(t) + \delta arphi(x_i, t) ,$$
 (3.17)

where $\delta \varphi(x_i, t)$ are small inhomogeneities.

Taking into consideration that a small perturbation $\delta \varphi(x_i, t)$ induces metric perturbations

$$ds^2 = -(1+2A)dt^2 + 2a(t)B_{,i}dx^i dt + a^2(t)\left[(1-2\psi)\delta_{ij} + 2E_{,ij} + h_{ij}
ight]dx^i dx^j \;, \;\; (3.18)$$

we find that, at linear order in the scalar metric perturbations and $\delta \varphi$, the Klein-Gordon equation (3.7) becomes

$$\ddot{\delta \varphi} + 3H\dot{\delta \varphi} + rac{k^2}{a^2}\delta \varphi + V_{\varphi\varphi}\delta \varphi = -2AV_{\varphi} + \dot{\varphi}\left[\dot{A} + 3\dot{\psi} + rac{k^2}{a^2}\left(a^2\dot{E} - aB
ight)
ight],$$
 (3.19)

where k is the comoving wavenumber.

In order to simplify (3.19), we can use the relations between the Einstein equations and the scalar metric perturbations, which are obtained by the 00 and 0*i* components

$$3H(\dot{\psi} + HA) + rac{k^2}{a^2} \left[\psi + H(a^2E - aB)
ight] = -4\pi G\delta
ho$$
 (3.20)

$$\dot{\psi} + HA = -4\pi G\delta q$$
 . (3.21)

These equations are also known as the energy and momentum constraints [66, 27]. The energy and pressure perturbations and momentum are computed as

$$\delta \rho = \dot{\varphi} (\dot{\delta \varphi} + A \dot{\varphi}) + V_{\varphi} \delta \varphi \tag{3.22}$$

$$\delta P = \dot{\varphi} (\dot{\delta \varphi} + A \dot{\varphi}) - V_{\varphi} \delta \varphi \tag{3.23}$$

$$\delta q = -\dot{\varphi}\delta\varphi \;. \tag{3.24}$$

By using (3.20) and (3.21), it is possible to eliminate the metric perturbations from (3.19), and write a Klein-Gordon equation only in terms of the field perturbations as³

$$\ddot{\delta\varphi} + 3H\dot{\delta\varphi} + \left[\frac{k^2}{a^2} + V_{\varphi\varphi} - \frac{8\pi G}{a^3}\left(\frac{a^3\dot{\varphi^2}}{H}\right)\right]\delta\varphi = 0.$$
(3.25)

It can be compactly written in terms of conformal time and $v=a\delta arphi$ and $z=a\dot{arphi}/H$ as

$$v_k'' + \left(k^2 - rac{z''}{z}
ight)v_k = 0 \;, ag{3.26}$$

which is known as the Mukhanov-Sasaki equation. This equation describes the dynamics of the whole scalar sector on both super (k < aH) and sub-horizon (k > aH) scales.

Note that when $\dot{\varphi}/H = \text{constant}$ (or equally ϵ_1 constant), (3.26) becomes

$$v_k'' + \omega^2(\eta, k) v_k = 0 \;,$$
 (3.27)

³It is important to highlight that (3.25) is written in the spatially flat gauge ($\psi = 0$), which is a common gauge used to describe scalar perturbations during inflation. For more information on the variety of gauge-invariant combinations of the scalar metric perturbations, see [70, 71].

where $\omega^2 = k^2 - a''/a$. In eq.(3.27), each mode behaves as a parametric oscillator, and its solution for a given k can be expressed as

$$v_k = \sqrt{k|\eta|} \left[V_+ H_
u^{(1)}(k|\eta|) + V_- H_
u^{(2)}(k|\eta|)
ight] \;,$$
 (3.28)

where $H_{\nu}^{(1)}(k|\eta|)$, $H_{\nu}^{(2)}(k|\eta|)$ are Hankel functions of the first and second kind, and V_+ , V_- are constants to be set by initial conditions.

In the remote past, all modes were inside the horizon, which means that all cosmological modes had time-independent frequencies, and under this approximation, the solution for the Mukhanov-Sasaki becomes

$$v_k = A_k e^{-ik\eta} + B_k e^{ik\eta}$$
 . (3.29)

By using the Wronskian normalisation $W=v_kv_k^{\prime\star}-v_k^\prime v_k^\star=i$, we obtain

$$W = 2ik\left(|A_k|^2 - |B_k|^2\right) = i$$
 (3.30)

The positive frequency mode $v_k \propto e^{-ik\eta}$ corresponds to the minimal excitation state. Then, we will choose this mode to define the inflationary vacuum state, which amounts to setting $A = 1/\sqrt{2k}$ and B = 0.

Then, we can set the initial condition as

$$\lim_{\eta
ightarrow -\infty} v_k(\eta) = rac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} e^{-ik\,\eta} \ ; \ (3.31)$$

which is known as the Bunch-Davies vacuum.

Now, we normalise the solution (3.28) with the Bunch-Davies vacuum on small scales (early times), so we set $V_+ = 0$ and $V_- = \sqrt{\pi/4k}$. Then, eq.(3.27) provides us with the
corresponding solution on large scales (late times)

$$v_k = rac{\sqrt{\pi |\eta|}}{2} H_
u^{(2)}(k|\eta|) \ .$$
 (3.32)

We can approximate the amplitude-squared (3.32) in the super-horizon limit as

$$egin{aligned} &v_k(\eta) v_k^\star(\eta) o &rac{1}{4\pi k^3} rac{\Gamma^2(
u) 2^{2
u}}{|\eta|^{2
u-1}} \ &\simeq &rac{1}{2k^3 |\eta|^2} = rac{(aH)^2}{2k^3} \ , \end{aligned}$$

where we considered the slow roll regime ($\nu \simeq 3/2$).

This enable us to define the power-spectrum of the field fluctuations as⁴

$$rac{1}{a^2} \mathcal{P}_v(k,\eta) = rac{H^2}{(2\pi)^2} \;,$$
 (3.34)

which indicates a scale-invariant spectrum on super-horizon scales.

The power spectrum of the Mukhanov-Sasaki variable \mathcal{P}_v can be directly related to the power spectrum of the comoving curvature perturbation \mathcal{P}_{ζ} , and this change is convenient since ζ is a conserved quantity on large scales. It means that its spectrum can be propagated to the time of recombination without taking into consideration sensitive details of the cosmological evolution. The curvature perturbation is expressed in terms of the Mukhanov-Sasaki variable as

$$\zeta = \frac{v}{z} = \frac{v}{a\sqrt{2\epsilon_H}M_{Pl}}, \qquad (3.35)$$

then, using (3.34), we obtain

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(k) = rac{\mathcal{P}_{v}(k)}{2a^{2}\epsilon_{H}M_{Pl}^{2}} = rac{V^{3}}{12\pi^{2}M_{Pl}^{6}V_{\varphi}^{2}},$$
 (3.36)

which is usually evaluated at some pivot scale $k_* = 0.05 \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$.

⁴Taking into consideration that a factor $k^3/2\pi^2$ should appear in (3.33) in order to compute the variance of v.

We vary (3.36) with respect to k in order to quantify deviations from scale-invariance. This provides us the spectral index n_s and the running of the spectral index α_s

$$n_{\rm s} - 1 = \left. \frac{d \ln \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}{d \ln k} \right|_{k_*},\tag{3.37}$$

$$\alpha_{\rm s} = \left. \frac{d^2 \ln \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}{d(\ln k)^2} \right|_{k_*} \,. \tag{3.38}$$

In the slow roll regime, the inflaton field and comoving wavenumber are related by the scalar field equations of motion, which provide us

$$\frac{d}{d\ln k} = -\frac{V_{\varphi}}{3H^2} \frac{d}{d\varphi} , \qquad (3.39)$$

where we used the fact that we are considering k=aH, and H is essentially constant, so $d\ln k=d\ln a=(H/\dot{arphi})darphi.$

Then, the spectral index and its running can be expressed in terms of the potential and its derivatives

$$n_{\rm s}-1=2\eta_V-6\epsilon_V , \qquad (3.40)$$

$$lpha_{
m s}=-2\xi_V-24\epsilon_V^2+16\epsilon_V\eta_V~.~~(3.41)$$

Going further, we can apply the same procedure in order to calculate the power spectrum of tensor perturbations \mathcal{P}_h . Now, we will solve a equation in form of

$$h'' + \left(k^2 - \frac{a''}{a}\right)h = 0 , \qquad (3.42)$$

instead of (3.27), and find

$$\mathcal{P}_h(k_*) = \frac{8}{M_{Pl}^2} \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 = \frac{2V}{3\pi^2 M_{Pl}^4} . \tag{3.43}$$

By comparing (3.36) and (3.43), it is clear to see that while the scalar amplitude

depends on both H and ϵ , the tensor amplitude is a direct measure of the expansion rate H.

The tensor-to-scalar ratio r is calculated by

$$r = rac{\mathcal{P}_h(k_*)}{\mathcal{P}_\zeta(k_*)} \simeq 16\epsilon_V \;.$$
 (3.44)

Until now, tensor modes have not been observed, then we only have an upper limit on their amplitude r < 0.064.

There is a huge amount of inflationary models, but since the data seem to favour the single field inflation [15], by our analysis in this section, it is quite straightforward to compute the observables for them. Some inflationary models are shown in Fig.3.1. They are constrained in the parameter space n_s vs. r. It is clear that the R^2 inflation has a special spot in this plot, and this is why we dedicate the next section to the Starobinsky model [72].



Fig. 3.1.: This figure shows the marginalized joint 68% and 95% CL regions for n_s and r at $k = 0.002 \text{Mpc}^{-1}$ from Planck alone and in combination with BK14 or BK14 plus BAO data, compared to the theoretical predictions of selected inflationary models. Image credit: Ref.[1].

f(R) Theory, The Starobinsky Model and Inflation

The high accuracy of observations have put inflation in the precision era due to the fact that Planck experiments can now constrain rigorously inflationary models. The objective of this chapter is to present the Starobinsky model, its predictions and a possible modification to it inspired by the α -Attractors, since f(R) models have been considered good candidates to compute the spectrum of primordial scalar perturbations generated in this inflationary stage. Also, we propose a mapping between the slow roll parameters and non-Gaussianities using a generic form of f(R) in order to find an easy way to add these results as a pipeline over the constraining of the observational parameters. By generic form of f(R) we mean that in principle we could obtain the slow roll parameters for any f(R), since to apply our definitions we just need a f(R) model and its derivatives in terms of R. On the other hand, we need to stress that slow roll inflation may only occur for the range of R in which $f(R)/R^2$ is a slowly changing function of R, namely, where its first and second derivatives with respect to $\ln R$ are small by modulus, as shown in [73].

The following sections are based on the results obtained in [41, 42].

Reconstructing the α -Attractors from an f(R)theory

In this section, we describe briefly the f(R) theory, with emphasis on the Starobinsky model. We also point out that there is an analogy at high curvature between the f(R)theory and the α -Attractors. We will show that the power law correction R^{n-1} allows for a production of gravitational waves enhanced with respect to the one in the Starobinsky model, while maintaining a viable prediction on n_s . We numerically reconstruct the full α - Attractors class of models testing the goodness of our high-energy approximation. Moreover, we also investigate the case of a single power law $f(R) = \gamma R^{2-\delta}$ theory, with γ and δ free parameters, to confirm once again the excellent agreement between the Starobinsky model and observation.

f(R) theory

We start this section by briefly reviewing how an f(R) theory is able to provide a viable inflationary model. Let's start with the following action

$$S = rac{M_{
m Pl}^2}{2} \int d^4 x \sqrt{-g} f(R) \; ,$$
 (4.1)

where $M_{\rm Pl}$ is the Planck mass. Following [74, 75], the above f(R) action (4.1) is equivalent to the Einstein-Hilbert one with a minimally coupled (to the conformally transformed metric) canonical scalar field χ , defined as follows

$$\chi = \sqrt{rac{3}{2}} M_{
m Pl} \ln \left(rac{df}{dR}
ight) \; ,$$
 (4.2)

and subject to the following potential

$$U = \frac{M_{\rm Pl}^2}{2(df/dR)^2} \left(R \frac{df}{dR} - f \right) \;.$$
 (4.3)

At this point one can already see why the Starobinsky model $f(R) = R + \frac{R^2}{6M^2}$ is special. Assume for example a $R + \gamma R^n$ theory, with n > 0 and where γ is some energy scale at which the correction becomes relevant. At high energy scales $\gamma R^n \gg R$, where we expect Inflation to take place, the potential U becomes

$$U = rac{M_{
m Pl}^2(n-1)}{2\gamma n^2} R^{2-n} \; .$$
 (4.4)

The Starobinsky case n = 2 then provides a plateau, which is the ideal situation for a slow roll inflationary phase to take place. If n > 2 the potential initially increases and then goes to zero asymptotically, which might be bad from the point of view of Inflation because the slow rolling scalar field would need to overcome a potential barrier. For n < 2 the potential grows unbound, but still there is the possibility for it to satisfy the slow roll conditions. See [76, 77, 78].

Dynamical system perspective

Let us analyse the above-described asymptotic behaviours from a dynamical system perspective. Assume a spatially flat FLRW metric

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a(t)^{2} \delta_{ij} dx^{i} dx^{j} .$$
(4.5)

It is not difficult to cast the evolution equations of f(R) gravity in absence of matter as the following dynamical system

$$\begin{cases} 6Hf''\dot{R} = Rf' - f - 6f'H^2 \\ 6\dot{H} = R - 12H^2 \end{cases},$$
(4.6)

where $H \equiv \dot{a}/a$, the dot denotes derivation with respect to the cosmic time and the prime denotes derivation with respect to R. Note that the second equation of system (4.6) is the very definition of R for metric (4.5) and we have assumed f'' and H different from zero.

In order to have an inflationary phase for large R (larger than a certain scale M^2), we need $\dot{H} \approx 0$. From the second equation of system (4.6) this implies $R \approx 12H^2$ and thus $\dot{R} \approx 0$. This happens if, from the first equation of system (4.6), we obtain

$$rac{f'}{f} pprox rac{2}{R} \,, \qquad {
m or} \qquad rac{Rf'/2 - f}{6Hf''} \sim 0 \;.$$
 (4.7)

The first condition leads us to

$$f(R) \sim R^2$$
, (4.8)

which is the Starobinsky R^2 correction to the Einstein-Hilbert action. The second condition tells us that 6Hf'' must grow more rapidly than Rf'/2 - f for large R. This can be achieved via a R^n correction with n > 2, but then the problem that we have mentioned earlier appears: the scalar field has to climb a potential barrier in order for Inflation to end. Recently, an investigation of the inflationary dynamics generated by an inflaton field climbing up a potential has been investigated in [79, 80], where the authors present viable scenarios. Another recent interesting proposal is [81] where a logarithmic correction to the Einstein-Hilbert action is investigated. In this case, the divergence is linear since the R term dominates but the presence of the logarithmic correction produces a plateau at intermediate energies where Inflation might take place.

The potential (4.3) for the Starobinsky model can be computed exactly and has the following form

$$U(\chi) = rac{3}{4} M^2 M_{
m Pl}^2 \left(1 - e^{-\sqrt{2/3}\chi/M_{
m Pl}}
ight)^2 \;.$$
 (4.9)

This potential presents a plateau for high values of the inflation field, as shown in Fig. 4.1.

Considering the excellent fit to the latest Planck data, in the next subsections we are going to focus on two equally interesting subclasses of the α -attractors: one in which the potential depends explicitly on $e^{-\sqrt{2/(3\alpha)}\chi/M_{\rm Pl}}$, known as E-model, and another in which the potential depends explicitly on $\tanh^2\left(\frac{\chi}{\sqrt{6\alpha}M_{\rm Pl}}\right)$, known as T-model.

The α -Attractors: E-models

The subclass of α -Attractors called E-Models [24] is described by the following scalar field potential

$$U_E(\chi) = rac{3}{4} M^2 M_{
m Pl}^2 lpha \left(1 - e^{-\sqrt{2/(3lpha)}\chi/M_{
m Pl}}
ight)^2 \;.$$
 (4.10)

Clearly, the Starobinsky potential (4.9) is recovered for $\alpha = 1$. In Fig. 4.1 we display the behavior of the above potential for different choices of α .

Applying the definitions given in (4.2) and (4.3) to the E-Models potential of (4.10), it is not difficult to obtain the following differential equation for f(R)

$$Rf' - f = \frac{3M^2}{2(1-\beta)^2} \left(f' - f'^{\beta}\right)^2 , \qquad (4.11)$$

28

where we have defined

$$\beta \equiv 1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha}} . \tag{4.12}$$

Note that, since $\alpha > 0$, then $\beta < 1$. When $\alpha = 1$, i.e. $\beta = 0$, one can easily check that the Starobinsky model is solution of (4.11). When $\alpha \to \infty$, i.e. $\beta \to 1$, it is easy to see that from (4.10) we get a χ^2 potential and the corresponding f(R) theory can be found by solving the equation

$$Rf' - f = \frac{3}{2}M^2 f'^2 \ln^2(f') . \qquad (4.13)$$

Finally, note that f = R turns (4.11) into a identity. Therefore, (4.11) can be seen as an equation which determines the correction to the usual Einstein-Hilbert action which is able to reproduce the inflationary dynamics of the α -Attractors E-models.

Unfortunately, (4.11) cannot be solved analytically for a generic α and we analyse it numerically in the AppendixA. On the other hand, if there exists a f(R) theory reconstructing the same inflationary dynamics as the α -Attractors, then at high energies the former must behave as the Starobinsky model, i.e. $f(R) \propto R^2$, because the α -Attractors potential displays a plateau at high energies and, in the framework of f(R) theories, this is realized only by a $f(R) \propto R^2$ correction.

Let us show this explicitly, assuming a $f(R) = \gamma R^n$ theory, where $\gamma > 0$ is an arbitrary energy scale and n > 1, and substituting it into (4.11)

$$\frac{2(n-1)(1-\beta)^2}{3M^2\gamma n^2}R^{2-n} = \left[1-(\gamma n)^{\beta-1}R^{(\beta-1)(n-1)}\right]^2 . \tag{4.14}$$

Since $\beta < 1$ and n > 1, the exponent $(\beta - 1)(n - 1)$ is negative. Therefore, in the limit $\gamma R^{n-1} \to \infty$, we get from (4.14)

$$rac{2(n-1)(1-eta)^2}{3M^2\gamma n^2}R^{2-n}
ightarrow 1$$
 (4.15)

In order to satisfy this limit, n must be equal to 2. This result confirms that the asymptotic behavior of a f(R) theory which aims to reproduce the α -Attractors dynamics must go as R^2

for large R. We then propose this *ansatz*

$$f(R) = R + aR^n + bR^2 , (4.16)$$

where a > 0 and b > 0 are arbitrary energy scales and n > 1. Let's substitute (4.16) into (4.11)

$$rac{a(n-1)R^n+bR^2}{(1+anR^{n-1}+2bR)^2} = rac{3M^2}{2(1-eta)^2} \left[1-(1+anR^{n-1}+2bR)^{eta-1}
ight]^2 \ ,$$
 (4.17)

and consider the high energy limits

$$aR^{n-1}\gg 1$$
, and $bR\gg 1$. (4.18)

If n < 2, the dominant contributions in (4.17) are those proportional to R^2 and we get from them

$$b = rac{(1-eta)^2}{6M^2}$$
 (4.19)

For $\beta = 0$ we then recover the correct form of the coefficient for the Starobinsky model. One can check that in (4.17) the next-to-leading power in n, being n < 2, is n itself, whereas the next-to-leading power in β , being $\beta < 1$, is $\beta + 1$. Therefore, we can approximate (4.17) as follows

$$a(n-1)R^n + bR^2 \sim rac{3M^2}{2(1-eta)^2} \left[4b^2R^2 + a^2n^2R^{2(n-1)} + 4banR^n - 2(2bR)^{eta+1}
ight] \;. \; (4.20)$$

We equate the sub-dominant powers and their respective coefficients, obtaining

$$n = \beta + 1$$
 $a = (2b)^{\beta}$. (4.21)

When $\beta = 0$, the aR^n contribution of (4.16) is thus reincorporated into the usual Einstein-Hilbert term of the action and we are left with the Starobinsky model. The comparison between powers that we have just done in (4.17) allows us to reconstruct the α -Attractors at high energies as a polynomial correction to the Starobinsky model (4.16)

$$f(R) = R + \left[\frac{(1-\beta)^2}{3M^2}\right]^{\beta} R^{\beta+1} + \frac{(1-\beta)^2}{6M^2} R^2 .$$
(4.22)

This is just an approximation because the other sub-leading powers do not compensate, being indeed (4.16) not a solution of (4.11).

If $n \ge 2$ in (4.17), one can easily check that the equation can be balanced only if n = 2. This is expected because, as we have already commented earlier, in order to provide a scalar potential with a plateau at high energies, a f(R) theory must go asymptotically as R^2 .

The lpha-Attractors: T-models

There exists another subclass of the α -Attractors named T-Models. The potential characterising these models is the following

$$U_T(\chi) = 3M^2 M_{
m Pl}^2 lpha anh^2 \left(rac{\chi}{\sqrt{6lpha} M_{
m Pl}}
ight) \ ,$$
 (4.23)

i.e. based on the plateau-like behavior of the hyperbolic tangent for large values of the field. Indeed, the above potential recovers the E-models potential, and therefore the Starobinsky one when $\alpha = 1$, only for large values of the field. In Fig. 4.1 we display the evolution of the E-models and T-models for some values of α including $\alpha = 1$, i.e. the Starobinsky model.

In the large α limit, by performing a Taylor-series expansion, it is easy to see that the T-models potential (4.23) coincides with the one of the chaotic inflation model with a quadratic potential [22], as for the E-models.

In the large α limit, by performing a Taylor-series expansion, it is easy to see that the T-models potential (4.23) coincides with the one of the chaotic inflation model with a quadratic potential [22], as for the E-models.

As we did in the previous subsection, using the definitions given in (4.2) and (4.3) for the T-Model potential of (4.23), we can obtain a differential equation which allows to



Fig. 4.1.: Left Panel. Evolution of the E-Models potentials (4.10) (red lines) and of the T-models potentials (4.23) (blue lines) for some values of α . The choices $\alpha = 1$ and $\alpha = 1/9$ are interesting because they reproduce the Starobinsky model and the chaotic inflation model [2, 3].

Right Panel. Evolution of the normalised potential derived from Eq. (4.30). The solid line is drawn for the value $\beta = 1$, i.e. the Starobinsky model. The dashed and the dotted line are for $\beta = 0.1$ and $\beta = -0.1$, respectively.

reconstruct a corresponding f(R)

$$f^{\prime 2} \frac{\left[1 - f^{\prime (\beta - 1)}\right]^2}{\left[1 + f^{\prime (\beta - 1)}\right]^2} = \frac{(1 - \beta)^2}{6M^2} (Rf^\prime - f) .$$
(4.24)

In the limit of large fields, i.e. $f'^{\beta-1} \rightarrow 0$,¹ the above equation becomes similar to (4.11). Therefore, the same asymptotic analysis which led us to justify the *ansatz* given in (4.22) applies.

A power law extension of the Starobinsky model

Motivated by the result of the previous subsection, here we address in detail the model given by (4.22), i.e. a power law extension of the Starobinsky model. In this case it is not possible to find a closed, analytic form for the potential of (4.3) as function of the field χ of (4.2). In Refs. [82, 83] the authors show that the following potential (written here in our notation)

$$U(\chi) = M_{
m Pl}^2 \left(lpha_1 - \gamma_1 e^{-n\sqrt{2/3}\chi/M_{
m Pl}}
ight) \ ,$$
 (4.25)

32

¹This limit holds true only if f' is a growing function of R, i.e. f'' > 0, which is a condition that we are assuming.

where α_1 and γ_1 are parameter with dimension of a square mass, is able to reproduce asymptotically the following f(R) model

$$f(R) \sim rac{R^2}{4\gamma_1(2-n)} + rac{1}{2-n} \left[rac{1}{2\gamma_1(2-n)}
ight]^{1-n} R^{2-n} \ ,$$
 (4.26)

via an analysis similar to the one performed in the previous section. From the above potential, it is possible to derive the following predictions on the scalar index and the tensor-to-scalar ratio

$$n_{
m s} \simeq 1 - rac{2}{N} \;, \qquad r \simeq rac{12}{n^2 N^2} \;,$$
 (4.27)

that is, a behaviour similar to the one predicted by the α -Attractors.

Our analysis of the model (4.22) shall be purely numerical. The derivative of (4.22), is the following

$$f'(R) = 1 + (1 - \beta)^{2\beta} (1 + \beta) \left(\frac{R}{3M^2}\right)^{\beta} + (1 - \beta)^2 \frac{R}{3M^2} .$$
(4.28)

This expression suggests the use of the dimensionless variable $R/3M^2$. Indeed, one can easily show that also the potential (4.3) is a function of $R/3M^2$, since

$$U = \frac{3M^2 M_{\rm Pl}^2}{2(f')^2} \left(\frac{R}{3M^2} f' - \frac{f}{3M^2}\right) , \qquad (4.29)$$

and we have just shown that f' is function of $R/3M^2$ and

$$\frac{f}{3M^2} = \frac{R}{3M^2} + (1-\beta)^{2\beta} \left(\frac{R}{3M^2}\right)^{\beta+1} + \frac{(1-\beta)^2}{2} \left(\frac{R}{3M^2}\right)^2 , \qquad (4.30)$$

is evidently function of $R/3M^2$. In Fig. 4.1 we display the evolution of the potential corresponding to (4.22).

The slow roll parameters can be defined as follows, given the functional form of the potential $U(\chi)$

$$\epsilon_U \equiv \frac{M_{Pl}^2}{2} \left(\frac{U_{\chi}}{U}\right)^2 , \quad \eta_U \equiv M_{Pl}^2 \frac{U_{\chi\chi}}{U} , \quad \xi_U \equiv M_{Pl}^4 \frac{U'U'''}{U^2} , \quad \sigma_U \equiv M_{Pl}^6 \frac{U'^2 U^{(4)}}{U^3} , \quad (4.31)$$

where $U^{(4)}$ represents the fourth derivative of the potential with respect to the field. From these quantities it is straightforward to compute the scalar index and the tensor-to-scalar ratio

$$n_{\rm s} \equiv 1 - 6\epsilon_U + 2\eta_U , \quad r \equiv 16\epsilon_U ,$$

$$\tag{4.32}$$

and the running and the running of the running of the scalar spectral index

$$\alpha_{\rm s} \equiv \frac{dn_{\rm s}}{d\log k} = -2\xi_U^2 + 16\eta_U\epsilon_U - 24\epsilon_U^2 , \qquad (4.33)$$

$$\beta_{\rm s} \equiv \frac{d\alpha_{\rm s}}{d\log k} = 2\sigma_U^3 + 2\xi_U^2(\eta_U - 12\epsilon_U) - 32\epsilon_U(\eta_U^2 - 6\eta_U\epsilon_U + 6\epsilon_U^2) . \quad (4.34)$$

For single field inflationary models, the above runnings are of the order of $\alpha_{\rm s} \sim 10^{-3}$ and $\beta_{\rm s} \sim 10^{-5}$ [84, 85]. Discriminating among $\alpha_{\rm s}$ and $\beta_{\rm s}$ of different models is still an experimental challenge, however it might be possible to use $\alpha_{\rm s}$ to this purpose in forthcoming Stage-4 CMB experiments, see e.g. [86]. In Fig. 4.2 we display the evolution of $n_{\rm s}$ and ras functions of β , showing a good agreement with the observational constraints for a range $0 < \beta \leq 0.8$. The latter value corresponds to a $R^{1.8}$ correction to the Starobinsky model. In Fig. 4.2 we also plot the runnings as functions of β and, finally, in Fig. 4.3 we display the prediction of the model investigated in this section on the r vs $n_{\rm s}$ plane by varying β in the interval $-0.02 < \beta < 0.8$ (corresponding to $0.96 < \alpha < 25$) and comparing this evolution with the contour regions allowed from the Planck data [4]. As one can appreciate, the polynomial correction to R^2 allows larger values of r. In particular, it seems that diminishing the number of e-folds could allow to even larger values of r.

Study of the single power law f(R) inflationary model

In this subsection we address, for completeness, the case of a single power-law f(R)

$$f(R) = R + rac{R^{2-\delta}}{(6M^2)^{1-\delta}} \;,$$
 (4.35)

and compute its predictions on the inflationary parameters. This kind of model has already been investigated in [87], in order to test the robustness of the Starobinsky model and assess



Fig. 4.2.: Left Panel. Evolution of the inflationary parameters n_s and r as functions of β derived from (4.30). The solid line is drawn for N = 55 whereas the dashed line represents the case N = 60. The dotted lines represent the observational constraints at 95% CL. Right Panel. Evolution of the runnings as functions of β derived from (4.30). The solid line is drawn for N = 55 whereas the dashed line represents the case N = 60.



Fig. 4.3.: Evolution of $r \ vs \ n_s$, varying β in the interval $-0.02 < \beta < 0.8$ (corresponding to $0.96 < \alpha < 25$) and for N = 55 (solid line) and N = 60 (dashed line) with the marginalized 68% and 95% confidence level contours from Planck 2015 data [4].

how much precise data have to be in order to detect deviations from the case $\delta = 0$. We present a similar analysis in next section, providing analytic results for the inflationary parameters n_s and r as functions of the number of e-folds N and the new parameter δ .

Starting from (4.35), we can determine the following potential for the scalar field χ

$$U(\chi) = \frac{3M_{\rm Pl}^2 M^2 (1-\delta)}{(2-\delta)^{\frac{2-\delta}{1-\delta}}} e^{-2\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\frac{\chi}{M_{\rm Pl}}} \left(e^{\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\frac{\chi}{M_{\rm Pl}}} - 1\right)^{\frac{2-\delta}{1-\delta}} .$$
(4.36)

It is straightforward to see that for $\delta = 0$ we recover the Starobinsky model given in (4.9). For large fields, the above potential behaves as

$$U(\chi) \sim rac{3M_{
m Pl}^2 M^2 (1-\delta)}{(2-\delta)^{rac{2-\delta}{1-\delta}}} e^{\sqrt{rac{2}{3}} rac{\delta}{1-\delta} rac{\chi}{M_{
m Pl}}} \;, \qquad (\chi \gg M_{
m Pl}) \;,$$

where again, for $\delta = 0$, we recover the plateau typical of the Starobinsky model. In Fig. 4.4 we show the behaviour of $U(\chi)$ of the model (4.36) for different values of δ and of (4.10) for different values of α , compared with the Starobinsky model.



Fig. 4.4.: Upper panel. Evolution of the potential (4.10) for $\alpha = 1.1$ (dashed line) and $\alpha = 1.2$ (dotted line) compared with the Starobinsky case (solid line). Lower panel. Evolution of the potential (4.36) for $\delta = 0.05$ (upper dashed line) and $\delta = -0.05$ (lower dotted line) compared with the Starobinsky case (solid line).

As expected, from Fig. 4.4 one can see that the α -Attractors potential seems to preserve the plateau at high energies, whereas the δ -model displays an important change in the steepness of the potential. This statement can be made more quantitative by calculating the slow roll parameters from (4.36). We have for ϵ_U

$$\epsilon_{U} \equiv \frac{M_{\rm Pl}^{2}}{2} \left(\frac{U_{\chi}}{U}\right)^{2} = \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{1}{1-\delta}\right)^{2} \left[\frac{\delta + 2(1-\delta)e^{-\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\frac{\chi}{M_{\rm Pl}}}}{1-e^{-\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\frac{\chi}{M_{\rm Pl}}}}\right]^{2} , \qquad (4.38)$$

and η_U :

$$\eta_U \equiv M_{\rm Pl}^2 \frac{U_{\chi\chi}}{U} = \frac{2}{3(1-\delta)^2} \frac{\delta^2 - (1-\delta)(2-5\delta)e^{-\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\frac{\chi}{M_{\rm Pl}}} + 4(1-\delta)^2 e^{-2\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\frac{\chi}{M_{\rm Pl}}}}{\left(1-e^{-\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\frac{\chi}{M_{\rm Pl}}}\right)^2} \quad (4.39)$$

For large fields ($\chi \gg M_{\rm Pl})$ the slow roll parameters can be approximated as follows

$$\epsilon_U \sim rac{1}{3} \left(rac{1}{1-\delta}
ight)^2 \left[\delta + (2-\delta)e^{-\sqrt{rac{2}{3}}rac{\chi}{M_{
m Pl}}}
ight]^2 \ ,$$
 (4.40)

and

$$\eta_U \sim rac{2}{3(1-\delta)^2} \left[\delta^2 - (2-7\delta+3\delta^2) e^{-\sqrt{rac{2}{3}}rac{\chi}{M_{
m Pl}}}
ight] \;.$$

Note that

$$\epsilon_U o rac{1}{3} \left(rac{\delta}{1-\delta}
ight)^2 \ , \qquad \chi o \infty \ ,$$
 (4.42)

i.e. there is no plateau if $\delta > 0$, as we expected from observing Fig. 4.4 and from the analysis performed earlier in Sec. 4.1.1. Moreover, since $\epsilon_U \ll 1$ in order to have an inflationary phase, then $\delta \ll 1$.

The value of the field at which inflation ends is given by $\epsilon_U(\chi_f) \approx 1$, which in our case translates to

$$\epsilon_U(\chi_f) pprox 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad e^{-\sqrt{rac{2}{3}}rac{\chi_f}{M_{
m Pl}}} pprox rac{\sqrt{3} - \delta(1+\sqrt{3})}{(2+\sqrt{3})(1-\delta)} \simeq rac{\sqrt{3} - \delta}{2+\sqrt{3}} \ .$$

With this we can calculate the number of e-folds as follows

$$N = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}M_{\rm Pl}} \int_{\chi_f}^{\chi_i} \frac{d\chi}{\sqrt{\epsilon_U}} . \tag{4.44}$$

Let's stay at the lowest possible order in both δ and $e^{-\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\frac{\chi}{M_{\text{Pl}}}}$ and their combinations. In this case, we can approximate the slow roll parameters and the number of e-folds as follows

$$\epsilon_U \sim rac{1}{3} \left(\delta + 2e^{-\sqrt{rac{2}{3}}rac{\chi}{M_{
m Pl}}}
ight)^2 \;, \quad \eta_U \sim -rac{4}{3} e^{-\sqrt{rac{2}{3}}rac{\chi}{M_{
m Pl}}} \;, \quad rac{1}{N} \sim rac{4}{3} e^{-\sqrt{rac{2}{3}}rac{\chi}{M_{
m Pl}}} + rac{\delta}{3} \;.$$
 (4.45)

The scalar index and the tensor-to-scalar ratio are therefore written as

$$n_{
m s}\equiv 1-6\epsilon_U+2\eta_U\sim 1-rac{2}{N}\left(1-rac{N\delta}{3}
ight) \ ,$$
 (4.46)

$$r \equiv 16\epsilon_U \sim rac{12}{N^2} \left(1 + rac{N\delta}{3}
ight)^2 \;.$$
 (4.47)

As we can see, differently from the α -Attractors case, the δ correction interferes also with the scalar spectral index, through the combination $N\delta$. In Fig. 4.5 we display the numerical results for the evolution of n_s and r as functions of δ , by fixing the number of e-folds N = 55 and N = 60. For completeness, in the same figure we also calculate the nonvanishing runnings $\alpha_s = dn_s/d \log k$ and $\beta_s = d\alpha_s/d \log k$.



Fig. 4.5.: Evolution of r, n_s , β_s and α_s as functions of δ for N = 55 (solid line) and N = 60 (dashed line). The horizontal dotted line is the upper limit on r, at 95% confidence level, obtained by the Planck collaboration [4]. The horizontal dotted lines enclose the 68% confidence level of the values of n_s measured by the Planck collaboration [4].

In Fig. 4.6 we display the δ model in the r vs n_s plane, again choosing N = 55 and N = 60. When N = 55, the variation of the δ parameter is $-0.004 < \delta < 0.011$ for 1σ , and $-0.011 < \delta < 0.022$ for 2σ . When N = 60, it is $-0.008 < \delta < 0.006$ for 1σ , and $-0.015 < \delta < 0.016$ for 2σ . This figure is very similar to the first panel of Fig. 4 of Ref. [87].



Fig. 4.6.: Evolution of r vs n_s , varying δ and for N = 55 (solid line) and N = 60 (dashed line) with the marginalized 68% and 95% confidence level contours from Planck 2015 data.

Differently from the α -Attractors case, the δ model move in the "wrong" direction in the r vs n_s , i.e. they move mostly horizontally.

Generic slow roll and non-gaussianity parameters in f(R) theories

In this section we establish formulae for the inflationary slow roll parameters ϵ , η and ζ as functions of the Ricci scalar R for f(R) theories of gravity. As examples, we present the analytic and numerical solutions of ϵ , η and ζ as functions of the number of e-folds N in two important instances: for the Starobinsky model and for the f(R) reconstruction of the α -Attractors (4.16). The highlight of our proposal is to rewrite the slow roll parameters in terms of f(R), which allows to find directly inflationary parameters as functions of R itself.

Generic slow roll parameters for a f(R) model

As shown in Sec.4.1.1, a generic f(R) theory can be mapped via a conformal transformation into General Relativity with a matter content constituted by a scalar field χ . In this context, we can use the slow roll definitions given by (4.31), where

$$U_{\chi}\equiv rac{dU}{d\chi}=rac{dU/dR}{d\chi/dR}$$
 , (4.48)

in order to find:

$$\epsilon = \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{2f - Rf'}{Rf' - f} \right)^2 . \tag{4.49}$$

$$\eta = \frac{2(f')^2}{3f''(Rf'-f)} - \frac{2Rf'}{Rf'-f} + \frac{8}{3}, \qquad (4.50)$$

$$\zeta = \frac{4}{9} \frac{(2f - Rf')}{(Rf' - f)^2} \left[-\frac{f'''(f')^3}{(f'')^3} - \frac{3(f')^2}{f''} + 8f - Rf' \right].$$
(4.51)

Applying these generic formulae to the Starobinsky model $f=R+lpha R^2$, we can easily compute

$$\epsilon = \frac{1}{3\alpha^2 R^2} , \qquad (4.52)$$

$$\eta = \frac{1 - 2\alpha R}{3\alpha^2 R^2},$$
(4.53)

$$\zeta = \frac{2(2\alpha R - 3)}{9\alpha^3 R^3} . \tag{4.54}$$

It is straightforward to notice that the above slow-roll parameters tend to zero for $\alpha R \to \infty$, as we expect from the fact that the potential presents a plateau for the Starobinsky model for $\alpha R \to \infty$.

It is remarkable that we are able to express the slow roll parameters as functions of R for any f(R) theory. However, in order to make contact with observation, we need to relate R to the number of e-folds N from the end of inflation. A simple way to compute N for a

generic f(R) theory in the slow roll approximation is rewriting (4.44) as

$$N \approx \frac{1}{M_{\rm Pl}} \int_{\chi_1}^{\chi_2} d\chi \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\epsilon}} \\ = \frac{3}{2} \int_{R_f}^{R_i} dR \left(\frac{f''}{f'}\right) \frac{Rf' - f}{2f - Rf'} , \qquad (4.55)$$

where the subscripts *i* and *f* over the integral denote an initial arbitrary moment during the inflationary phase and the final period of inflation, given by the condition $\epsilon_f \approx 1$.

In order to perform the integration in (4.55), we need an explicit form for our f(R) theory. Again, for the Starobinsky model we get

$$Npprox 3\int_{R_f}^{R_i} dRrac{lpha^2 R}{1+2lpha R}\sim rac{3}{2}lpha(R_i-R_f) \;,$$
 (4.56)

where we are assuming $\alpha R \gg 1$, which is a necessary condition to have an inflation stage. Considering $R_i \gg R_f$ and dropping the subscript *i*, we can write

$$\alpha R \sim \frac{2N}{3}$$
(4.57)

Now we are able to write the slow roll parameters as

$$\epsilon = rac{3}{4N^2} \,, \qquad \eta = -rac{1}{N} \,, \qquad \zeta = rac{1}{N^2} \,, \qquad (4.58)$$

and the tensor-to-scalar ratio and scalar spectral index as

$$r \equiv 16\epsilon = rac{12}{N^2} \ , \qquad n_{
m s} \equiv 2\eta + 1 = 1 - rac{2}{N} \ , \qquad (4.59)$$

which for N = 50 - 60 give predictions in very good agreement with observations.

The running of the spectral index can be written as

$$lpha_{
m s}\equiv rac{dn_{
m s}}{d\ln k}=-2\zeta+16\eta\epsilon-24\epsilon^2=-rac{2}{N^2}~,$$
 (4.60)

which it is of the same order of the tensor-to-scalar ratio.

As a second case, we consider (4.22), which is a f(R) approximated reconstruction of the α -Attractors, rewritten as

$$f(R) = R + \sigma^{\beta} R^{\beta+1} + \frac{\sigma}{2} R^2,$$
 (4.61)

where $\sigma = (1 - \beta)^2 / 3M^2$. We notice that when $\beta = 0$ we recover the Starobinsky model modified by a constant in the linear term and when $\beta = 1$ we recover GR.

Using (4.49)-(4.50)-(4.51) we can compute the following slow roll parameters and the number of e-folds for this model

$$\epsilon = \frac{4}{3} \left[\frac{1 + (1 - \beta)(\sigma R)^{\beta}}{2\beta(\sigma R)^{\beta} + \sigma R} \right]^2, \tag{4.62}$$

$$\eta = \frac{8}{3} - 4 \left[\frac{1 + (\beta + 1)(\sigma R)^{\beta} + \sigma R}{2\beta(\sigma R)^{\beta} + \sigma R} \right]$$

$$+ \frac{4}{3} \left\{ \frac{1 + 2(\beta + 1)(\sigma R)^{\beta}[1 + \sigma R] + (\beta + 1)^{2}(\sigma R)^{2\beta} + 2\sigma R + (\sigma R)^{2}}{\sigma R [\beta(\beta + 3)(\sigma R)^{\beta} + \sigma R + 2\beta^{2}(\beta + 1)(\sigma R)^{2\beta - 1}]} \right\} ,$$

$$\zeta = \frac{16}{9} \frac{\left[1 + (1 - \beta)(\sigma R)^{\beta}\right]}{\left[2\beta(\sigma R)^{\beta} + \sigma R\right]^{2}} \left\{ -\frac{\beta(\beta + 1)(\beta - 1)\left[1 + (\beta + 1)(\sigma R)^{\beta} + \sigma R\right]^{3}(\sigma R)^{\beta}}{(\sigma R)^{3}[1 + \beta(\beta + 1)(\sigma R)^{\beta - 1}]^{3}} - 3\frac{\left[1 + (\beta + 1)(\sigma R)^{\beta} + \sigma R\right]^{2}}{\sigma R [1 + \beta(\beta + 1)(\sigma R)^{\beta - 1}]} + 7 + (7 - \beta)(\sigma R)^{\beta} + 3\sigma R \right\} ,$$

$$(4.64)$$

$$3 \quad \zeta = \frac{16}{3} \frac{\left[1 + (\beta + 1)(\sigma R)^{\beta} + \sigma R\right]^{2}}{\sigma R [1 + \beta(\beta + 1)(\sigma R)^{\beta - 1}]} + 7 + (7 - \beta)(\sigma R)^{\beta} + 3\sigma R \right\} ,$$

$$(4.64)$$

$$N = \frac{3}{4} \int d(\sigma R) \left[\frac{2\beta^2 (\beta + 1)(\sigma R)^{2\beta - 1} + \beta(\beta + 3)(\sigma R)^{\beta} + \sigma R}{1 + 2(\sigma R)^{\beta} + (\beta + 1)(1 - \beta)(\sigma R)^{2\beta} + (1 - \beta)(\sigma R)^{\beta + 1} + \sigma R} \right].$$
 (4.65)

As it was shown in Sec.4.1.5, the viable range for β , determined from the Planck 2015 constraints on n_s and r, is $0 < \beta < 0.8$.

As in the Starobinsky case, expressed by (4.56), we assume that $\sigma R \gg 1$. Therefore, (4.65) can be approximated to

$$N \approx \frac{3}{4} \int_{\sigma R_f}^{\sigma R_i} d(\sigma R) \frac{\sigma R}{(1-\beta)(\sigma R)^{\beta+1}} \sim \frac{3}{4} \frac{(\sigma R)^{1-\beta}}{(1-\beta)^2}.$$
(4.66)

The latter allows us to express ϵ , η and ζ in terms of N as

$$\epsilon = \frac{3}{4(1-\beta)^2 N^2},$$
 (4.67)

$$\eta = -\frac{1}{N}, \qquad (4.68)$$

$$\zeta = \frac{1}{(1-\beta)^2 N^2} . \tag{4.69}$$

We choose $\beta = 1/2$ and N = 60 as an explicit example in order to compare its predictions for the slow roll parameters, and consequently the non-Gaussianity function, with those of the Starobinsky model. For this case the slow roll parameters of the β -model are estimated as

$$\epsilon_{(\beta=1/2)} = 8.3 \times 10^{-4}$$
, (4.70)

$$\eta_{(eta=1/2)} \;\;=\;\; -1.6 imes 10^{-2} \;,$$
 (4.71)

$$\zeta_{(eta=1/2)} = 1.1 imes 10^{-3} , \qquad (4.72)$$

from which we can compute the tensor-to-scalar ratio, scalar spectral index and running of the scalar index as

$$r=0.013\;,\quad n_{
m s}=0.966\;,\quad lpha_{
m s}=-0.002\;.$$

We show the evolution of the slow roll parameters ϵ and ζ for the Starobinsky model and the β -model, with $\beta = 1/2$, as functions of N in Figure 4.7. The evolution of the tensorto-scalar ratio versus the scalar spectral index for the Starobinsky model and for the β -model, with $\beta = 1/2$, are shown in Figure 4.8. For completeness, we express α_s for the Starobinsky model and the β -model, with $\beta = 1/2$ versus N and the evolution of α_s vs β are presented in Figure 4.9.



Fig. 4.7.: Left Panel. Evolution of ϵ as function of N for the Starobinsky model (solid line) and the β -model with $\beta = 1/2$ (dashed line). Right Panel. Evolution of ζ as function of N for the Starobinsky model (solid line) and the β -model with $\beta = 1/2$ (dashed line).



Fig. 4.8.: Left Panel. Prediction of the Starobinsky model for N = 50 (dashed line) and N = 60 (dotted line) on the space (n_s, r) . Right Panel. Prediction of the β -model for N = 50 (dashed line) and N = 60 (dotted line) on the space (n_s, r) .



Fig. 4.9.: Left Panel. Evolution of α_s as function of N for the Starobinsky model (solid line) and the β -model with $\beta = 1/2$ (dashed line). Right Panel. Running of the spectral index for the β -model showing the cases : N = 50 (dashed line), N = 60 (dotted line) and N = 100 (solid line).

Generic non-gaussianities for a f(R) model

The slow roll parameters defined in (4.31) from the potential U are related to the ones defined from the Hubble parameter as follows

$$\epsilon \approx \epsilon_H , \qquad (4.74)$$

$$\eta \approx \epsilon_H + \eta_H,$$
 (4.75)

$$\zeta \approx \zeta_H + 2\epsilon_H (3\eta_H - \epsilon_H),$$
 (4.76)

Notice that for a successful inflation, we need $\epsilon \ll 1$, $\eta \ll 1$ for a standard Starobinksy model and additionally $\zeta \ll 1$ for an α -attractor model. Indirectly, large values of η are likely to make ϵ and ζ grow as well.

Another important tool to understand the primordial Universe is the non-gaussianity. Constraints on its observation can provide information about the nature of the inflaton, whether it is a canonical field or multiple fields, or if inflation happens in a higher order scalar tensor theories, and other possibilities, since every model produces a distinct signal for f_{NL} (depending on the configuration of triangles) of 3-momenta.

The standard, single-field slow-roll models of inflation predict adiabatic and gaussian primordial perturbations with a nearly scale-invariant spectrum, and their non-gaussianity parameter is given by [88]

$$f_{
m NL} \sim (n_{
m s}-1) \sim 10^{-2} \ ,$$
 (4.77)

which is consistent to the current Planck constraints $|f_{\sf NL}| \lesssim {\cal O}(10).$

More explicitly, in standard inflation driven by a potential U_{χ} , we have the equilateral non-linear parameter as [89]

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm equil} = \frac{55}{36} \epsilon_H + \frac{5}{12} \eta_H ,$$
 (4.78)

therefore, using our definitions for the slow roll parameters (4.74), we can have a *generic* non-Gaussianity parameter for f(R)

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm equil} = \frac{30}{27}\epsilon + \frac{5}{12}\eta$$
 (4.79)

From this *generic* result, we can express the non-Gaussianity parameter in terms of N for the Starobinsky model as

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm equil} = \frac{15}{18N^2} - \frac{5}{12N} \,. \tag{4.80}$$

and for the β -model

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm equil} = \frac{15}{18(1-\beta)^2 N^2} - \frac{5}{12N} \,. \tag{4.81}$$

When we choose $\beta = 1/2$, the non-Gaussianity parameter becomes

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm equil} = \frac{30}{9N^2} - \frac{5}{12N} \ . \tag{4.82}$$

In Figure 4.10 we present the behaviour of $f_{\rm NL}^{\rm equil}$, given by (4.81). Also, we show the non-Gaussianity parameter for the Starobinsky model, given by (4.80), and for the β -model with $\beta = 1/2$, given by (4.82), as functions of the number of e-folds.



Fig. 4.10.: Left Panel. Non-gaussianity parameter for the β -model showing the cases : N = 50 (dashed line), N = 60 (dotted line) and N = 100 (solid line). Right Panel. Non-gaussianity parameter evolution for the Starobinsky model (dashed line) and the β -model (solid line), with $\beta = 1/2$, as functions of N.

It is important to highlight that our results are given for a single field model, which has a

standard kinetic term, in the Einstein gravity and respects the slow roll conditions. So in order to obtain observably large non-gaussianities, it is necessary to violate one of these assumptions. There are several developments in this subject, since primordial non-gaussianities are one of the most promising probe of the physics of the early universe [90]. A recent interesting proposal is [91], where a generalisation of Maldacena's single-field result [88] to multifield models is obtained.

Alternative to Inflation

As discussed in the previous chapters, we know there is strong evidence for the existence of primordial density perturbations on large scales from cosmological observations. The standard explanation for the origin of the primordial perturbations is inflation, in which the universe underwent an accelerated expansion in the early universe. Although it is a well tested paradigm since its predictions on the primordial power spectrum can be successfully compared with observations of the CMB, inflation has some conceptual problems which motivate the exploration of alternative scenarios for the early universe. Among these challenges, we highlight

- The singularity problem, since even if inflation can be achieved by a scalar field coupled to Einstein gravity, this inflationary universe is past incomplete [92, 93]. This means that inflation cannot provide the whole history of the very early universe;
- The difficulty of constructing sufficiently flat potentials for inflation (or quasi de Sitter) solutions in string theory or supergravity [61, 62]. Even knowing that these swampland criteria have been severely criticised [94], it is worth to investigate whether or not inflation is the only consistent model for the origin of large-scale structure in our universe;
- The trans-Planckian problem for fluctuations, since if inflation lasts longer than the minimal amount of time necessary to solve the initial condition problems of Cosmology, then the wavelengths of cosmological scales originate at sub-Planckian values [95]. By knowing that in the trans-Planckian regime, General Relativity and Quantum Field Theory are not valid anymore, it is at least awkward considering the origin of cosmological perturbations in this regime;

Going further, we do not have a unique prescription for the initial conditions of our Universe, so there is no reason to avoid considering other mechanisms beyond inflation. Contracting Cosmologies, for example, can be a possible explanation in which the large scale structure of our Universe is generated from vacuum fluctuations before the Big Bang. Similarly to inflation, it is also possible to calculate a spectrum of perturbations on super-Hubble scales in the Hot Big Bang model assuming vacuum fluctuations on sub-Hubble scales in a preceding contracting phase. To make sure the spectrum calculated in the collapse phase is indeed related to perturbations in the standard Hot Big Bang, we need an intermediate bounce. The idea of a cosmological bounce is quite old (the first solutions were obtained in the late 70's [96, 97]), and it generically consists in considering the increasing of the Hubble rate, which emerges from the contracting phase with a negative value, until it becomes positive since it characterises the expanding phase. Hence, it is possible to have a causal generation mechanism for vacuum fluctuations. Obviously, the nature of a bounce depends on the specific model considered, for more information on general features and current status of Bouncing Cosmologies, see [98, 99, 100, 101, 102].

Unfortunately, it is beyond the scope of this thesis to describe a bounce mechanism. Our goal here is to provide some statements about the primordial perturbations inherited from a preceding collapse phase by including stochastic effects. So, in this chapter, which is based in [43], we first review the classical dynamics of a scalar field cosmology with an exponential potential, and we discuss the phase-space portrait for this theory as well as the stability of the fixed points which represent power law expansion or collapse. We study linear perturbations about the background solutions and in particular the solutions of the perturbed field in a collapsing scenario. Then, we describe the stochastic formalism, which modifies the classical dynamics of the scalar field above a coarse-graining scale, in order to apply it to study of the quantum fluctuations in the form of a stochastic noise on large scale. Finally, we study the deviations about the classical solution in phase-space, as well as the maximum lifetime of collapsing scenarios in the presence of stochastic fluctuations.

Collapsing universe

In order to set the initial conditions for inhomogeneous perturbations at early times, we will consider a canonical scalar field with energy density and pressure, given by (3.3), where

 $V(\varphi)$ is the potential energy given by $V(\varphi) \propto e^{-\kappa\lambda\varphi}$, and λ is the slope of the potential. This provides the scaling solution¹

$$P = w
ho$$
 where $3(1+w) = \lambda^2$. (5.1)

It is possible to identify three scalar field collapse scenarios based on the form of the potential [103, 5, 27]

- Non-stiff collapse with $P < \rho \Leftrightarrow V > 0$ (including scale-invariant collapse);
- Pre-Big Bang collapse with $P = \rho \Leftrightarrow V = 0$ (blue tilted collapse);
- Ekpyrotic collapse with $P \gg \rho \Leftrightarrow V < 0$ (ultra-stiff fast roll collapse);

Background phase-space

In order to perform a qualitative analysis of the system described by (3.7) and (3.8), new variables can be introduced as [5]

$$x=rac{\kappa \dot{arphi}}{\sqrt{6}H}\,,\quad y=rac{\kappa \sqrt{\pm V}}{\sqrt{3}H},$$
 (5.2)

where $H = \dot{a}/a$ is the Hubble rate and we use \pm for positive and negative scalar potentials, $\pm V > 0$. With these variables, we can write the Friedmann constraint (3.8) as

$$x^2 \pm y^2 = 1$$
, (5.3)

Note that the equation of state (3.5) becomes

$$w = rac{x^2 \mp y^2}{x^2 \pm y^2} \,.$$
 (5.4)

¹Scaling solutions are solutions in which the energy density of the scalar field mimics the background energy density. This means the energy density of the scalar field decreases proportionally to that of a barotropic perfect fluid.

Then, we are able to rewrite (3.7) in terms of the autonomous system

$$x' = -3x(1-x^2) \pm \lambda \sqrt{3/2y^2}$$
, (5.5)

$$y' = xy(3x - \lambda\sqrt{3/2}), \qquad (5.6)$$

where a prime is a derivative with respect to the logarithm of the scalar factor, $N = \ln a$. We identify critical points of the system with fixed points where x' = 0 and y' = 0.

There are two kinetic-dominated solutions

$$x_a = -1 \text{ or } +1, \quad y_a = 0,$$
 (5.7)

with equation of state Eq.(5.4) $w_a = 1$. These fixed points therefore correspond to solutions where $a \propto t^{1/3}$ in an expanding universe for t > 0, or $a \propto (-t)^{1/3}$ for t < 0 in a contracting universe.

There is also a potential-kinetic-scaling solution for $\pm(6 - \lambda^2) > 0$ (i.e., a sufficiently flat positive potential, $\lambda^2 < 6$ for V > 0, or a sufficiently steep negative potential, $\lambda^2 > 6$ for V < 0) which is given by

$$x_b = \frac{\lambda}{\sqrt{6}}, \quad y_b = \sqrt{\frac{\pm (6 - \lambda^2)}{6}}.$$
 (5.8)

This scaling solution, corresponds to a solution with constant equation of state (5.4)

$$w_b = \frac{\lambda^2}{3} - 1 , \qquad (5.9)$$

and thus a power-law solution for the scale factor:

$$a(t) \propto |t|^p \;, \quad arphi(t) = \sqrt{rac{4}{3\kappa^2(1+w_b)}} \ln |t| + C \;,$$
 (5.10)

where C is an arbitrary constant of integration and:

$$p = \frac{2}{\lambda^2}.$$
 (5.11)

First-order perturbations around this critical point yield the linearised equation [5]

$$x' = rac{(\lambda^2 - 6)}{2}(x - x_b),$$
 (5.12)

and its phase-space is described in Fig.5.1.



Fig. 5.1.: Phase-space for flat positive potentials, $\lambda^2 < 6$. Arrows indicate evolution in cosmic time, t. Image Credit: Ref.[5].

We see that in an expanding universe, H > 0, the scaling solution (5.8) is stable for $\lambda^2 < 6$, corresponding to p > 1/3 from (5.11). Thus the scaling solution is stable whenever it exists for a positive potential in an expanding universe, but it is never stable for a negative potential in an expanding universe. Conversely, in a collapsing universe, since N decreases with cosmic time, H < 0, the scaling solution is stable for $\lambda^2 > 6$, corresponding to p < 1/3. Thus the scaling solution is stable whenever it exists for a negative potential in a collapsing universe, but it is never stable for a collapsing universe, but it is never stable for a negative potential in a collapsing universe, but it is never stable for a positive potential for H < 0.

In summary:

- Expanding universe $(N \to +\infty)$:
 - \diamond The scaling solution exists and is stable for a positive, flat potential p>1/3 (including inflation, p>1).
 - \diamond The scaling solution exists but is unstable for a negative, steep potential p < 1/3.
- Contracting universe $(N \to -\infty)$:
 - \diamond The scaling solution exists and is stable for a negative steep potential p < 1/3 (including ekpyrosis, $p \ll 1$).
 - \diamond The scaling solution exists but is unstable for a positive flat potential p>1/3 (including matter collapse, $p\simeq 2/3$).

Scalar field and metric perturbations

The configuration we chose, *i.e.*, a scalar field with exponential potential, allows us to explore the similarities between expanding and contracting scenarios. Then, we can apply the same method we used in Sec.3 to obtain the perturbed spectrum in collapsing universes, as show in [27].

Hence the solutions for small (sub-Hubble) and large (super-Hubble) scales are respectively

$$\delta arphi ~\simeq~ rac{e^{-ikt/a}}{a\sqrt{2k}} ~~{
m for}~ k^2/a^2 \gg H^2 \,,$$
 (5.13)

$$\delta arphi ~\simeq~~ rac{C \dot{arphi}}{H} + rac{D \dot{arphi}}{H} \int rac{H^2}{a^3 \dot{arphi}^2} dt ~~ ext{for}~ k^2/a^2 \ll H^2 \,.$$

where we have chosen the quantum vacuum normalisation for the under-damped oscillations on sub-Hubble scales (5.13).

A characteristic feature of an inflating spacetime is that the comoving Hubble length decreases in an accelerating expansion with $\dot{a} > 0$ and $\ddot{a} > 0$. The same is true for the comoving Hubble length, $|H|^{-1}/a = 1/|\dot{a}|$ in a decelerating, collapsing universe with $\dot{a} < 0$ and $\ddot{a} < 0$.

As a result quantum vacuum fluctuations on sub-Hubble scales at early times (5.13), lead to well-defined predictions for the power spectrum of perturbations on super-Hubble scales for potential-kinetic-scaling solutions with $\lambda^2 < 2$ and hence p > 1 in an expanding cosmology, or with $\lambda^2 > 2$ and hence p < 1 in a collapsing cosmology.

The characteristics of the inflation and collapse models for different values of p are summarised in table 5.1.

Power-law inflation	Decelerated collapse
H>0	H < 0
$\dot{a}>$ 0, $\ddot{a}>$ 0	$\dot{a} <$ 0, $\ddot{a} <$ 0
p>1	0

Tab. 5.1.: Comparing the quantities H, \dot{a} , \ddot{a} and p for power-law inflation and collapse. Although \dot{a} is negative in the collapse case, its magnitude $|\dot{a}|$ is increasing. p < 0 is not allowed since this would requires $\rho_{\varphi} + P_{\varphi} < 0$.

Scalar field perturbations in a power-law collapse

Considering a collapsing universe with the scale factor being a power-law scaling solution with $a \propto (-t)^p$ and t < 0, we can reexpress the scale factor in terms of conformal time as

$$a(\eta) \propto (-\eta)^{p/(1-p)}$$
, (5.15)

Using the relation for the Hubble rate in conformal time, $H=a^\prime/a^2$, we find that a can also be expressed as

$$a = \left(\frac{p}{1-p}\right)\frac{1}{H\eta}, \qquad (5.16)$$

where $\eta < 0$.

Since $\dot{\varphi}/H$ is constant in this case we have $z \propto a$, which allows us to rewrite (3.26) as a Bessel equation

$$rac{d^2 v}{d\eta^2} + \left(k^2 - rac{
u^2 - 1/4}{\eta^2}
ight) v = 0 \;,$$
 (5.17)

where

$$\nu = \frac{3}{2} + \frac{1}{p-1} = -\frac{3}{2} \left[\frac{1 + (3p-2)}{1 - (3p-2)} \right] .$$
 (5.18)

Note that for power-law collapse with p < 1 we have $u < 3/2^2$.

Similarly as the procedure to derivate (3.32), we already know that the general solution for a given k can be expressed as a linear combination of Hankel functions, then we can normalise the solution with the Bunch-Davies vacuum on small scales, and find corresponding solution on large scales (late times) for $k\eta \rightarrow 0$

$$\delta arphi_k = rac{i}{a} \sqrt{rac{1}{4\pi k}} rac{\Gamma(|
u|) 2^{|
u|}}{|k\eta|^{|
u|-1/2}} \ .$$
 (5.19)

As discussed in [27], this solution generates a scale invariant spectrum, $|\delta \varphi_k^2| \propto k^{-3}$, not only for slow-roll inflation $(P/\rho \rightarrow -1 \text{ and } \nu = 3/2)$ but also for a pressureless collapse $(P/\rho \rightarrow 0 \text{ and } \nu = -3/2)$.

²In Appendix B we explicitly show the mapping between the quantities p, ν , λ^2 and w.

Combining Eq.(5.19) and Eq.(5.15), we see that in this large-scale limit the field perturbations are constant for $\nu > 0$, since:

$$\delta\varphi_k \propto \frac{1}{a} (-\eta)^{\frac{1}{2} - |\nu|} \propto (-\eta)^{\nu - |\nu|} .$$
(5.20)

Conversely, for u < 0 we see that the scalar field perturbations can grow rapidly on super-Hubble scales and diverge as $\eta
ightarrow 0$.

Stochastic formalism

As we discussed in Chapter 3, we considered the homogeneous part of the scalar field to evolve classically, and its perturbations are treated as quantum mechanical quantities. An issue that could be raised in this scenario is: Can quantum corrections to the classical trajectory modify the background evolution? A possible answer for it can be found by using the stochastic approach. It models the effect of quantum vacuum fluctuations by introducing a cut-off scale (the so-called coarse-graining scale) splitting the fluctuations into two parts: quantum vacuum modes (below the coarse-graining scale) and the long wavelength field which includes a stochastic noise.

Since we would like to investigate how the equation of state of a inflationary or collapse cosmology can be modified by stochastic effects, we first dedicate this section to describe the stochastic formalism, and after apply it for the case of a scalar field with an exponential potential.

Stochastic noise from quantum fluctuations

We will keep working with a single scalar field φ with potential $V(\varphi)$, described by (3.1), for simplicity, but this analysis could be extended to a multiple-field configuration. Also, our analysis is made to scalar fluctuations only, so we are using the metric given by (3.18).

The Hamilton equations from the action (3.1) are given by

$$rac{\partial arphi}{\partial N} = \pi \;, \quad rac{\partial \pi}{\partial N} = (\epsilon_H - 3)\pi - rac{V_{arphi}(arphi)}{H^2} \;,$$
 (5.21)

where the homogeneous background field φ and its conjugate momentum π are two independent dynamical variables needed to formulate the stochastic inflation (or collapse) in the full phase-space.

The crucial point of the stochastic formalism is to split the scalar field and its momentum into a long wavelength part and small-wavelength part as

$$arphi = \overline{arphi} + arphi_Q \,, \qquad \pi = \overline{\pi} + \pi_Q \,,$$
 (5.22)

where $\overline{\varphi}$ and $\overline{\pi}$ are the coarse-grained quantities, and the subscript "Q" describes the smallwavelength quantities

$$arphi_Q = \int rac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} W\left(rac{k}{k_\sigma}
ight) \left[a_{ec{k}} arphi_{ec{k}}(N) e^{-iec{k}\cdotec{x}} + a^{\dagger}_{ec{k}} arphi_{ec{k}}(N) e^{iec{k}\cdotec{x}}
ight] \ ,$$
 (5.23)

$$\pi_Q = \int rac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} W\left(rac{k}{k_{\sigma}}
ight) \left[a_{ec{k}} \pi_{ec{k}}(N) e^{-iec{k}\cdotec{x}} + a^{\dagger}_{ec{k}} \pi^{\star}_{ec{k}}(N) e^{iec{k}\cdotec{x}}
ight] \ ,$$
 (5.24)

here $a_{\vec{k}}^{\dagger}$ and $a_{\vec{k}}$ are creation and annihilation operators³, and W is a window function. This means that when its argument is small $(k/k_{\sigma} \ll 1)$, $W \simeq 0$, and when its argument is large $(k/k_{\sigma} \gg 1)$, $W \simeq 1$. The inclusion of this time-dependent comoving cut-off scale (the so-called coarse-graining scale)⁴

$$k_{\sigma} = \sigma a H$$
, (5.25)

allow us to derive an effective equation of motion for $\overline{\varphi}$, integrating out the degrees of freedom contained in φ_Q .

Applying the decompositions given by (5.22) into the classical equations for motion (5.21), the equations for the long-wavelength parts become stochastic Langevin equations for

 $^{{}^{3}}a^{\dagger}_{\vec{k}}$ and $a_{\vec{k}}$ satisfy the usual commutation relations $[a_{\vec{k}}, a^{\dagger}_{\vec{k}}] = \delta^{3}(\vec{k} - \vec{k}')$ and $[a^{\dagger}_{\vec{k}}, a^{\dagger}_{\vec{k}}] = [a_{\vec{k}}, a_{\vec{k}}] = 0$. ${}^{4}\sigma \ll 1$ is a fixed parameter that sets the coarse-graining scale [40].
the random field variables \overline{arphi} and $\overline{\pi}$

$$\frac{\partial \overline{\varphi}}{\partial N} = \overline{\pi} + \xi_{\varphi} , \qquad (5.26)$$

$$\frac{\partial \overline{\pi}}{\partial N} = (\epsilon_H - 3)\overline{\pi} - \frac{V_{\varphi}(\overline{\varphi})}{H^2} + \xi_{\pi} , \qquad (5.27)$$

where the quantum noises ξ_{arphi} and ξ_{π} are given by

$$\xi_{\varphi} = -\int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \frac{dW}{dN} \left(\frac{k}{k_{\sigma}}\right) \left[a_{\vec{k}}\varphi_{\vec{k}}(N)e^{-i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{x}} + a^{\dagger}_{\vec{k}}\varphi^{\star}_{\vec{k}}(N)e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{x}}\right] , \qquad (5.28)$$

$$\xi_{\pi} = -\int rac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} rac{dW}{dN} \left(rac{k}{k_{\sigma}}
ight) \left[a_{ec{k}}\pi_{ec{k}}(N)e^{-iec{k}\cdotec{x}} + a^{\dagger}_{ec{k}}\pi^{\star}_{ec{k}}(N)e^{iec{k}\cdotec{x}}
ight] \ .$$
 (5.29)

This leads to stochastic noise associated with the small wavelength modes crossing the coarse-graining scale into the long-wavelength field at each time step, dN, described by the two-point correlation matrix $\Xi(\vec{x}_1, N_1; \vec{x}_2, N_2)$

$$\Xi_{f,g}(\vec{x}_1, N_1; \vec{x}_2, N_2) = \langle 0 | \xi_f(\vec{x}_1, N_1) \xi_g(\vec{x}_2, N_2) | 0 \rangle$$
, (5.30)

with f, g and ξ_f , ξ_g being shorthand notation for the field or its momentum and their respective noises. Then, we can rewrite these entries in terms of the power spectrum for white noise ⁵ as [40]

$$\Xi_{f,g}(N) = \frac{1}{6\pi^2} \frac{dk_{\sigma}^3(N)}{dN} f_k(N) g_k^*(N) . \qquad (5.31)$$

The stochastic approach provides a powerful way of calculation for quantum field effects on inflationary/collapsing spacetimes. Knowing that the presence of a stochastic noise can affect the stability of a dynamical system in a non-trivial way, our target now is to investigate how these stochastic perturbations can modify the equation of state of scalar field with an exponential potential in inflationary or collapsing scenario.

⁵such that $\langle \zeta(N) \rangle = 0$ and $\langle \zeta(N_1) \zeta(N_2) \rangle = \delta(N_1 - N_2).$

Perturbations in phase-space variables

Introducing first order perturbations of the dimensionless phase-space variables (5.2), we obtain

$$\delta x = \frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{6}} \frac{1}{H} \left(\dot{\delta \varphi} - A \dot{\varphi} - \frac{\dot{\varphi}}{H} \delta H \right) , \qquad (5.32)$$

$$\delta y = \frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{3}} \frac{\sqrt{V}}{H} \left(\frac{V_{,\varphi}}{2V} \delta \varphi - \frac{\delta H}{H} \right) , \qquad (5.33)$$

where we are also including the metric perturbations $t \rightarrow (1 + A)t$ and $H \rightarrow H + \delta H$ as described in [37]. By perturbing the Friedmann equation, we easily obtain

$$\delta H = rac{\kappa^2}{6H} (V_{,arphi} \delta arphi + \dot{arphi} \delta \dot{arphi} - \dot{arphi}^2 A) \ , \ (5.34)$$

and since we are working in the spatially-flat gauge we can use the momentum constraint to write the perturbed lapse function in terms of the scalar field perturbation as

$$A = \frac{\kappa^2 \dot{\varphi} \delta \varphi}{2H} . \tag{5.35}$$

At the critical point $x = x_b$ given by (5.8), the large-scale solution for the scalar field perturbations (5.19) then gives⁶

$$\delta x = \frac{i\kappa}{\sqrt{24\pi}} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda^2}{6} \right) \left(\frac{2}{2\nu - 1} \right)^2 \frac{\Gamma(|\nu|) 2^{|\nu|}}{k^{|\nu|}} \left(|\nu| - \nu \right) H(-\eta)^{-|\nu| + 3/2} , \qquad (5.36)$$

To find the stochastic version of the first-order perturbations equation given by (5.12), given in terms of number of e-folds. Let us then re-express δx by setting a pivot scale

$$H = H_{\star} \exp\left[\left(\frac{\nu - 3/2}{\nu - 1/2}\right) (N_{\star} - N)\right].$$
 (5.37)

⁶The kinetic dominated solution analysis is briefly discussed in Appendix C, since it provides $\delta x = 0$ without regard to the solution $\delta \varphi$.

where $N = \ln a$ is the logarithmic expansion (or "e-folds") and the conformal time can be expressed using (5.15) as

$$(-\eta) = (-\eta_{\star}) \exp\left[\frac{1}{\nu - 1/2} (N_{\star} - N)\right].$$
 (5.38)

which gives:

$$\delta x = \frac{i\kappa}{\sqrt{24\pi}} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda^2}{6}\right) \left(\frac{2}{2\nu - 1}\right)^{2+|\nu|} \frac{\Gamma(|\nu|)2^{|\nu|}}{\sigma^{|\nu|}} \left(|\nu| - \nu\right) H_{\star}(-\eta)_{\star}^{3/2} \exp\left[\frac{\nu}{\nu - 1/2} \left(N_{\star} - N\right)\right]$$
(5.39)

Perturbing the Friedmann constraint (5.3) leads to the expression for δy on large scales

$$\delta y = -\frac{x}{y} \delta x . \tag{5.40}$$

As a consequence, we can write the perturbation of the equation of state (5.4) as:

$$\delta w = 4x \delta x$$
 . (5.41)

For adiabatic perturbations on large scales, which leave the equation of state unperturbed $\delta w = 0$, we have $\delta x = \delta y = 0$, i.e., adiabatic perturbations leave the critical points in the phase-space unperturbed. Adiabatic perturbations on large scales correspond to local perturbations forwards or backwards in time along the background trajectory [104].

Quantum diffusion in phase-space

Near the critical point $x = x_b$ given by (5.8), the stochastic version of (5.12) is⁷

$$\frac{d(\bar{x} - x_b)}{dN} = m(\bar{x} - x_b) + \hat{\xi}_x,$$
(5.42)

 $^{^7}$ For more informations on stochastic differential equations, see e.g. [105].

where the eigenvalue $m=(\lambda^2-6)/2$, whose solution is given by considering an Itô process

$$\bar{x}(N) - x_c = e^{m(N-N_\star)} \left(\bar{x}(N_\star) - x_c \right) + \int_{N_\star}^N e^{m(N-S)} \hat{\xi}_x dS.$$
 (5.43)

We define the variance associated with the coarse-grained field $ar{x}$ as

$$\sigma_x^2 := \left\langle \left(\bar{x}(N) - x_c \right)^2 \right\rangle ;$$
 (5.44)

whose evolution equation is given by

$$\frac{d\sigma_x^2}{dN} = 2m\sigma_x^2 + 2\left\langle \hat{\xi}_x \left(\bar{x} - x_c \right) \right\rangle.$$
(5.45)

The solution can be split into a classical part and a quantum part, given by⁸

$$\sigma_x^2(N) = \sigma_{x,cl}^2(N) + \sigma_{x,qu}^2(N)$$

= $\sigma_x^2(N_\star)e^{2m(N-N_\star)} + \int_{N_\star}^N dS \, e^{2m(N-S)} \Xi_{x,x}(S) ,$ (5.46)

where the two-point correlation matrix $\Xi_{x,x}(S)$ is defined in Eq. (5.31), using the notation of [40]. The classical part, $\sigma_{x,cl}^2(N)$, is given by the variance at some initial time times an exponential function of the number of e-folds. The quantum part, $\sigma_{x,qu}^2(N)$, is the accumulated noise between the initial time and a later time.

We find the two-point correlation function for the perturbations in the dimensionless phase-space variable, x, by applying (5.31) to δx given in (5.39) as

$$\begin{split} \Xi_{x,x}(N) &= \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \sigma^3 \left(\nu - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 \frac{1}{(-\eta_\star)^3} \exp\left[\frac{-3}{\nu - 1/2} \left(N_\star - N\right)\right] |\delta x|^2 \\ &= g(\nu, \sigma) \kappa^2 H^2(N) , \end{split}$$
(5.47)

with

$$g(\nu,\sigma) := \frac{\Gamma^2(|\nu|)\nu^2 2^{2|\nu|+4}}{(12\pi)^3 \sigma^{2|\nu|-3}} \left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)^{2|\nu|+4} (|\nu|-\nu)^2 .$$
(5.48)

 $^{^8 \}rm We$ show the explicit calculation in Appendix F.

As previously noted, for $\nu > 0$ the classical trajectory for x remains preserved by the leading order perturbations in the scalar field since $\delta x = 0$ on large scales $(k\eta \rightarrow 0)^9$, but the same is not true for ν negative since in this case $\delta x \neq 0$. We derive in Appendix E an alternative way to find this result using perturbations of the field and momentum.

Inserting our result for the correlation function (5.47) in the quantum part of (5.46), we find

$$\sigma_{x,qu}^{2}(N) = g(\nu,\sigma)\kappa^{2}H_{\star}^{2}\exp\left[\frac{3-2\nu}{\nu-1/2}\left(-N_{\star}\right)\right]e^{2mN}\int_{N_{\star}}^{N}dS\,e^{-2mS}\exp\left[\frac{3-2\nu}{\nu-1/2}S\right]\,.$$
(5.49)

Re-expressing the eigenvalue m in terms of the index, $m = -2\nu/(\nu - 1/2)$, the solution of (5.49) is then

$$\sigma_{x,qu}^{2}(N) = \tilde{g}(\nu,\sigma)\kappa^{2}H^{2}(N)\left\{1 - \exp\left[\frac{3+2\nu}{\nu-1/2}\left(N_{\star}-N\right)\right]\right\},$$
 (5.50)

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{g}(\nu,\sigma) &= \left(\frac{\nu - 1/2}{3 + 2\nu}\right) g(\nu,\sigma) \\ &= \frac{\Gamma^2(|\nu|) 2^{2|\nu|+4}}{(12\pi)^3 \sigma^{2|\nu|-3}} \left(\frac{\nu^2}{3 + 2\nu}\right) \left(\frac{2}{2\nu - 1}\right)^{2|\nu|+3} (|\nu| - \nu)^2 \,. \end{split}$$
(5.51)

Equation (5.49) is given in terms of the Hubble scale at a fixed time, H_{\star} , while we have used (5.37) to give the variance (5.50) in terms of the time-dependent Hubble scale, H(N).

We can compare the growth rate of the classical and quantum perturbations by comparing the time dependence from the two parts in (5.46). We note first that the time dependence of the classical term goes as

$$\sigma_{x,cl} \propto \exp\left[\frac{4\nu}{\nu - 1/2} \left(N_{\star} - N\right)\right] \,. \tag{5.52}$$

⁹In Appendix D, we take into account the next-to-leading order field contribution to compute $\Xi_{x,x}(N)$ and show that even in this configuration quantum diffusion should not take the system away from the fixed point. We show in particular that this is the case for quasi-de Sitter inflation.

From (5.50), we see the time dependence of the quantum term behaves as

$$\sigma_{x,qu} \propto \exp\left[\frac{4\nu}{\nu - 1/2} \left(N_{\star} - N\right)\right] \left\{\exp\left[-\frac{3 + 2\nu}{\nu - 1/2} \left(N_{\star} - N\right)\right] - 1\right\} \,. \tag{5.53}$$

Remember $N_{\star} - N$ grows with time (N decreases) in an expanding universe. Thus, the quantum variance decays with time if we have

$$\frac{3+2\nu}{\nu-1/2} > 0 \ . \tag{5.54}$$

This is the case if either $\nu > 1/2$ or $\nu < -3/2$. However, a positive ν will cancel the leading order quantum diffusion, so we will consider only the second case, $\nu < -3/2$, in the following analysis. Thus, the classical perturbations grow faster than the quantum noise if $\nu < -3/2$, and the quantum noise grows faster if $\nu > -3/2$.

Also, the condition (5.54) provides a shift in the spectrum, when compared to the case $\nu = -3/2$, since the scalar spectral index can be written in terms as [106, 107, 108, 109, 99, 110]

$$n_{\rm s} = 1 + \frac{12w}{1+3w} = 1 + \frac{4(2\nu+3)}{3}$$
, (5.55)

and it is clear to see that when $\nu = -3/2 - \epsilon$, where ϵ is a small positive parameter, w < 0and the spectrum becomes red, *i.e.*, $n_s < 1$. In Fig.(5.2), we show what values for ν are in agreement with Planck data.

To understand the behaviour around u pprox -3/2 we will consider $u = -3/2 - \epsilon$ which for $|\epsilon (N_\star - N)| \ll 1$ leads to

$$\sigma_{x,qu}^2(N) = rac{3}{128\pi} rac{1}{\sigma^{2\epsilon}} rac{H^2(N)}{M_{pl}^2} \left(N_\star - N
ight) \,,$$
 (5.56)

where we have used $\kappa^2 = 8\pi/M_{pl}^2$ with M_{pl} the Planck mass, and we recall that σ is the coarse-graining scale. The diffusion thus has the form of a random walk with $N_{\star} - N$ steps of equal, but growing, length $\propto |H(N)|$.

We see that (5.56) depends weakly on the coarse-graining scale for u pprox -3/2, and



Fig. 5.2.: Evolution for n_s as function of ν . The horizontal dotted lines enclose the 68% confidence level of the values of n_s measured by Planck collaboration 2018.

becomes independent of σ in the limit $\nu = -3/2$, where $\epsilon \to 0$. This is not surprising since we know that quantum fluctuations in a pressureless collapse give rise to a scale-invariant spectrum of perturbations [107, 108, 111].

Maximum lifetime of the collapsing phase

We can now examine when the variance becomes large, i.e., when $\sigma_{x,qu} \approx 1$, so that the quantum diffusion due to the stochastic noise results in a significant deviation from the critical point.

Radiation-dominated collapse: Consider first the case of a potential-kinetic-scaling collapse with λ = 2, giving rise to an equation of state w = 1/3, analogous to a radiation-dominated cosmology, and index ν = -1/2. The variance (5.50) in this case becomes

$$egin{aligned} &\sigma_{x,qu}^2(N) = rac{\sigma^2}{54\pi} rac{H_\star^2}{M_{pl}^2} \left\{ \exp\left[4\left(N_\star - N
ight)
ight] - \exp\left[2\left(N_\star - N
ight)
ight]
ight\} \ &pprox rac{\sigma^2}{54\pi} rac{H^2(N)}{M_{pl}^2} \ , \end{aligned}$$

where to get the second line, we have neglected the second exponential term since the first one will grow much quicker. For $\sigma_{x,qu}^2(N_{\text{end}}) = 1$, we get the straightforward result

$$|H_{
m end}| pprox rac{13}{\sigma} M_{pl} \;.$$
 (5.58)

We conclude that a radiation-dominated collapsing phase cannot escape the fixed point due to quantum diffusion until it approaches the Planck scale. Indeed, since we require $\sigma < 1$, we see that a deviation from the classical fixed point $x = x_b$ due to quantum diffusion would require the Hubble scale to become greater than the Planck scale. In practice as soon as the Hubble scale approaches the Planck scale our semi-classical analysis breaks down;

• Pressureless collapse: For the case of a pressureless collapse, u = -3/2, we find $\sigma_{x,qu}(N_{
m end}) = 1$ when

$$|H_{
m end}| = \sqrt{rac{128\pi}{3(N_{\star} - N_{
m end})}} M_{pl}$$
 (5.59)

Thus, for pressureless collapse case, quantum diffusion gives a time, t_{end} , at which stochastic trajectories leave the classical fixed point before we reach the Planck scale, $|H_{end}| < M_{pl}$, if the number of e-folds during the collapse is greater than 134. We show a simple example in Fig.(5.3). In terms of the initial Hubble rate, using (5.37) for the Hubble rate H(N) for $\nu = -3/2$, we have

$$(N_{\star} - N_{
m end}) \exp \left[3(N_{\star} - N_{
m end})
ight] = rac{128\pi}{3} rac{M_{pl}^2}{H_{\star}^2} \,,$$
 (5.60)

from which we get an approximate number of e-folds during the collapse phase

$$N_{\star} - N_{\mathrm{end}} \approx \frac{2}{3} \ln \left(\sqrt{\frac{128\pi}{3}} \frac{M_{pl}}{|H_{\star}|} \right) \,.$$
 (5.61)

Conversely we can obtain an expression for the Hubble rate at the end of the pressureless collapse starting from an initial Hubble rate H_{\star} given by

$$|H_{ ext{end}}| pprox \sqrt{rac{64\pi}{\ln\left(\sqrt{rac{128\pi}{3}}rac{M_{pl}}{|H_{\star}|}
ight)}} M_{pl} \;.$$



Fig. 5.3.: Evolution of the Hubble rate, |H|, in a pressureless collapse. For quantum diffusion to lead to a deviation from the classical fixed point before the Hubble rate reaches the Planck scale, $|H_{end}| < M_{Pl}$, requires a very low initial energy scale, $|H_*| \ll |H_{end}|$.

Knowing how the comoving Hubble length behaves in terms of time during pressureless collapse, we can estimate a lower limit on the number of e-folds required during pressureless collapse to solve the horizon and smoothness problems of the hot big bang:

$$rac{k_{
m end}}{k_{\star}} = rac{a_{
m end}H_{
m end}}{a_{\star}H_{\star}} = \left(rac{t_{\star}}{t_{
m end}}
ight)^{1/3} = e^{(N_{\star} - N_{
m end})/2} > e^{70}$$
, (5.63)

where we are considering 70 as a ratio between the Hubble length over Planck scale compared to horizon size today. This is a similar number for inflation to solve the flatness and horizon problems of Big Bang cosmology. Then, we would need

$$N_{\star} - N_{
m end} > 140$$
 , (5.64)

which is remarkably close to the estimate $N_{\star} - N_{\rm end} > 134$ that follows from requiring $|H_{\rm end}| < M_{pl}$ (5.59);

6

Final Considerations

The first objective of this thesis was to derive observational constraints on inflationary models that arise from f(R) theories. Motivated by the good agreement between the cosmological parameters n_s and r provided by the α -Attractors theory and recent observations, in Section 4.1, we derive a differential equation for a f(R) theory from the scalar potentials of α -Attractors, (4.11), in order to find a f(R) theory compatible with this class of models. Since this differential equation cannot be solved analytically for any choice α , we make an asymptotic analysis at high energies, where inflation is expected to take place, and show that the *ansatz* (4.22) represents a viable solution to the differential equation (4.11) at the leading and sub-leading order in the limit $R \to \infty$. Then, we investigate the predictions on the inflationary parameters provided by the power law extension of the Starobinsky model and show that they are in very good agreement with observation, allowing for a greater production of gravitational waves, i.e. a larger r, than in the Starobinsky model. We also made a detailed analysis of the model $f(R) = \gamma R^{2-\delta}$ and found a mostly horizontal movement of the predictions of the starobing the predictions of the starobing of the predictions of the model in the $r-n_s$ plane, indicating that the missing of the R^2 term in the action alters drastically the behaviour of the inflationary evolution.

The reconstruction here performed of the α -Attractors models is confined to a f(R) model. Another investigation in this sense could start from a more general extension of GR, such as the Horndeski theory [112].

In Section 4.2, we also present formulae for the inflationary slow roll parameters (ϵ , η and ζ) and the non-Gaussianity function $f_{\rm NL}^{\rm equil}$ to be used in any kind of f(R) proposals which satisfies the condition for slow roll existence, *i.e.*, any f(R) that behaves like $f(R)/R^2 \approx constant$. As an example, we develop these quantities using the Starobinsky model and the β -model, which is a f(R) approximate reconstruction of the α -Attractors class of inflationary models. As shown in Figure 4.10, these two models provide small non-Gaussianity parameters, which is in good agreement with recent constraints [89], that despite

the agreement of the Planck data sets with the Gaussian scenario, they do not rule out the presence of non-Gaussianities of small intensity.

Since the origin of the vacuum fluctuations leading to the large-scale structures we observe in the Universe is still unknown, the second goal of thesis was the study of such fluctuations in a collapse phase. In Chapter 5, we considered three possible cosmological scenarios: a power-law inflation, a runaway collapse and the ekpyrotic collapse. It is well known that inflation and the ekpyrotic models are classically stable under perturbations, while the matter collapse is unstable. We showed that the quantum perturbations do not drive inflationary and ekpyrotic models away from their fixed point in phase-space, what in turn means one does not modify the classical behaviour of such models by adding quantum noises. In fact, all models with a positive index ν (index of the Bessel function governing the evolution of the Mukhanov-Sasaki variable) have an identically vanishing quantum contribution. As a consequence, only models with a negative index, including the pressureless collapse, see their classical equation of state being pushed away from the critical point. The perturbation of the equation of state, or equivalently of the kinetic variable x we used throughout this paper, is summarised in Table (6.1).

Finally, we studied the maximum lifetime of the quantum noise for a negative ν in a collapse phase. The general case seems to show that collapse models are stable against quantum diffusion. However, for the interesting value $\nu = -3/2$ corresponding to a pressureless collapse, known to be scale-invariant, we found the quantum diffusion takes us away from the critical point if we start the collapse from very low energy scales and if it lasts more than 134 e-folds, with no dependence on the coarse-graining scale. Even though for a value of ν arbitrarily close to -3/2 we recover some dependence on the coarse-graining scale, this dependence is found to be weak.

Inflation / Ekpyrotic collapsePressureless collapse
$$\nu > 0 \rightarrow$$
 adiabatic noise $\nu < 0 \rightarrow$ non-adiabatic noise $\delta w = 0$ $\delta w \neq 0$

Tab. 6.1.: Table comparing the behaviour of δw for three cases in the limit $\sigma \rightarrow 0$: de Sitter inflation ($\nu = 3/2$), ekpyrotic collapse ($\nu = 1/2$) and pressureless collapse ($\nu = -3/2$).

As we focused on stochastic effects in a collapsing universe, the question of the per-

turbations fate through the singularity naturally emerges in this context. However, it is not possible to model a cosmological bounce in our approach as we have used the number of e-folds as time variable, which is not well suited to tackle this issue. A way-out could be the introduction of stochastic perturbations in the scale factor, while the field itself becomes the time variable. Also, we have not taken into account the gauge corrections arising from working out the field perturbations in conformal time and their subsequent use in the stochastic noise in terms of number of e-folds, so it would be interesting to use the stochastic formalism beyond the usual slow-roll approximation [37] to study this gauge issue in collapsing scenarios.

Appendices

Detailed investigation of the differential equation (4.11)

In this appendix we investigate in greater detail (4.11), which we report here

$$Rf' - f = \frac{3M^2}{2(1-\beta)^2} \left(f' - f'^{\beta}\right)^2 . \tag{A.1}$$

First of all, we define $f(R) \equiv R + F(R)$, i.e. we postulate the presence of the Einstein-Hilbert term and focus our attention just on its correction. Equation (A.1) thus becomes

$$RF' - F = \frac{3M^2}{2(1-\beta)^2} (1+F')^2 \left[1 - (1+F')^{\beta-1}\right]^2 . \tag{A.2}$$

Next, we normalise R and F to $3M^2/2$ and define $\gamma \equiv eta - 1 = -1/\sqrt{lpha} <$ 0, thus obtaining

$$RF' - F = rac{(1+F')^2}{\gamma^2} \left[1 - (1+F')^{\gamma}
ight]^2 \;.$$
 (A.3)

Deriving this equation with respect to R, we obtain

$$\frac{2(F'+1)[(F'+1)^{\gamma}-1][(\gamma+1)(F'+1)^{\gamma}-1]}{\gamma^2}F'' = RF''.$$
 (A.4)

Now, this equation is satisfied if F'' = 0 but then it would give a linear solution for F(R)in which we are not interested since we have already stipulated that $f(R) \equiv R + F(R)$. Therefore, we assume that F'' > 0, and the above equation gives us

$$R = \frac{2(F'+1)[(F'+1)^{\gamma}-1][(\gamma+1)(F'+1)^{\gamma}-1]}{\gamma^2} .$$
 (A.5)

For $\gamma = -1$, one can easily recover the Starobinsky case, since

$$R=2F' \quad \Rightarrow \quad F=rac{R^2}{4} \; ,$$
 (A.6)

and restoring the normalisation by $3M^2/2$ one obtains $R+R^2/6M^2$.

71

Equation (A.5) gives us a constraint on the expression of F'(R) which we must take into account when solving (A.3) in order to select the correct initial condition and exclude the linear solution. Note that F' = 0 implies from (A.5) that R = 0 and then, from (A.3), that F = 0. We have thus that F(0) = F'(0) = 0, as desired.

The strategy in order to numerically obtain a solution F(R) is the following. We choose an initial, small but non vanishing $R_i \equiv \epsilon$; determine $F'(\epsilon)$ from (A.5); determine the initial condition $F(\epsilon)$ from (A.3); solve either (A.3) or (A.5). A simpler way is to use the fact that $F'(R) \rightarrow 0$ for $R \rightarrow 0$. Then, for a sufficiently small ϵ , keeping the lowest order in $F'(\epsilon)$ in (A.5) and (A.3), we get

$$\epsilon \sim 2 F'(\epsilon) \ , \qquad F(\epsilon) = rac{\epsilon^2}{4} \ , \qquad ({\sf A}.7)$$

which is indeed the Starobinsky case found in (A.6), revealing thereby that the Starobinsky model is a low curvature approximation of the α -Attractors. This can be also seen by taking the low χ limit of (4.10). We can also prove that the Starobinsky model is a high curvature approximation of the α -Attractors, since F'' > 0 and $\gamma < 0$. Then, for $R \to \infty$ we get from (A.5)

$$R \sim rac{2F'}{\gamma^2} \ , \quad ext{ for } R o \infty \ , \quad \Rightarrow \quad F \sim rac{\gamma^2}{4} R^2 \ , \quad ext{ for } R o \infty \ .$$

Being $\gamma = \beta - 1$, restoring the $3M^2/2$ normalisation, one easily recover our approximation (4.22). Indeed, the plots in the upper panel of Fig. A.1 suggest that the Starobinsky model is also a high curvature approximation of the α -Attractors (of course, with different energy scales depending on the parameter α). This fact is somehow expected, since both the theories are characterised by a plateau potential at high energies.

In Fig. A.2 we also display the goodness of our approximation (4.22) in the case $\alpha = 4$.



Fig. A.1.: Upper Panel. Evolution of the numerically reconstructed F(R) normalised to R^2 for the cases $\gamma = -2$ ($\alpha = 1/4$, dashed line) and $\gamma = -1/2$ ($\alpha = 4$, dotted line). This plot shows an asymptotic quadratic behaviour. Lower Panel. Reconstructed F(R) for the cases $\gamma = -2$ ($\alpha = 1/4$, dashed line), the

Lower Panel. Reconstructed F(R) for the cases $\gamma = -2$ ($\alpha = 1/4$, dashed line), the Starobinsky model $\gamma = -1$ ($\alpha = 1$, solid line) and $\gamma = -1/2$ ($\alpha = 4$, dotted line).



Fig. A.2.: Upper Panel. Relative error, showing the goodness of our approximation Eq. (4.22). Lower Panel. Comparison between the numerical reconstructed F(R) using the techniques of this section and the approximated one in Eq. (4.22), for $\gamma = -1/2$ (corresponding to $\beta = 1/2$ and $\alpha = 4$).

Mapping between p, λ^2 , w, ν and $n_s - 1$

Throughout this work, we use the quantities p, λ^2 , w and ν because, even if they are connected to the others, each one of them is more appropriate for a specific analysis. In order to facilitate the understanding of the reader, we show the explicit mapping between them in Table B.1.

	p	λ^2	w	u	n_s-1
p	p	$\frac{2}{\lambda^2}$	$\frac{2}{3(1+w)}$	$\frac{2 u-1}{2 u-3}$	$rac{4-(n_s-1)}{6-(n_s-1)}$
λ^2	$\frac{2}{p}$	λ^2	3(1+w)	$rac{4 u-6}{2 u-1}$	$\frac{2(n_s-1)-12}{(n_s-1)-4}$
w	$\frac{2-3p}{3p}$	$\frac{\lambda^2-3}{3}$	w	$\frac{-2\nu-3}{6\nu-3}$	$rac{(n_s\!-\!1)}{12\!-\!3(n_s\!-\!1)}$
ν	$\frac{3}{2} + \frac{1}{p-1}$	$\frac{3}{2} + \frac{\lambda^2}{2-\lambda^2}$	$rac{3}{2} - rac{3(1+w)}{1+3w}$	ν	$\frac{3(n_s-1)}{8}-\frac{3}{2}$
n_s-1	$\frac{6p-4}{p-1}$	$rac{4(3-\lambda^2)}{2-\lambda^2}$	$\frac{12w}{1+3w}$	$rac{4(2 u+3)}{3}$	$n_s - 1$

Tab. B.1.: Table showing how to write p, λ^2 , w, ν and $n_s - 1$ in terms of each of them.

Kinetic-dominated solution

We show in this appendix the solutions for the other critical point, namely the kineticdominated regime. This is interesting for two reasons. First, this regime corresponds to the critical value $\nu = 0$, which is the interface between purely adiabatic perturbations (at firstorder) and non-adiabatic perturbations. Second, perturbations in this regime act as a stiff fluid and go as $a \propto (-\eta)^{-6}$. Such behaviour is usually invoked in the classical resolution of the initial singularity, see for instance the reviews [100, 113, 101, 114].

To begin, note we can rewrite (5.32) in terms of the variables x and y as

$$\delta x = rac{\kappa}{6} \left[\left(1 - x^2
ight) rac{\delta ec arphi}{H} + \left(3x^4 - 3x^2 + rac{\lambda^2}{2}y^2
ight) \delta arphi
ight] \;.$$
 (C.1)

In the case of the kinetic-dominated solution, the fixed points are $x_a = \pm 1$, $y_a = 0$. In this configuration, we have w = 1, or equivalently $\lambda^2 = 6$, resulting in the trivial expression

$$\delta x=0$$
 , (C.2)

regardless of the value of the solution $\delta \varphi$. Hence, any first-order linear field perturbation leads to adiabatic perturbations in the kinetic-dominated regime.

D

Next-to-leading order field contribution

We expand the field solution (5.19) and its derivative to third order to get all terms contributing to second order. Then the field is now

$$\begin{split} \delta\varphi &= \frac{i}{a} \frac{\Gamma\left(|\nu|\right) 2^{|\nu|}}{\sqrt{4\pi} k^{|\nu|}} \left[1 + \frac{(-k\eta)^2}{4\left(|\nu|-1\right)} + \frac{(-k\eta)^4}{32\left(|\nu|-1\right)\left(|\nu|-2\right)} \right] \frac{1}{\left(-\eta\right)^{|\nu|-1/2}} \\ &= \frac{i}{\sqrt{4\pi}} \left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1} \right) \frac{2^{|\nu|} \Gamma\left(|\nu|\right)}{k^{|\nu|}} \\ &\times \left[\frac{H}{(-\eta)^{|\nu|-3/2}} + \frac{k^2 H}{4\left(|\nu|-1\right)\left(-\eta\right)^{|\nu|-7/2}} + \frac{k^4 H}{32\left(|\nu|-1\right)\left(|\nu|-2\right)\left(-\eta\right)^{|\nu|-11/2}} \right] \,, \end{split}$$
(D.1)

$$\begin{split} \dot{\delta\varphi} &= \frac{i}{\sqrt{4\pi}} \left(\frac{2}{2\nu - 1}\right)^2 \frac{2^{|\nu|} \Gamma(|\nu|)}{k^{|\nu|}} H^2 \\ &\times \left[\frac{(|\nu| - \nu)}{(-\eta)^{|\nu| - 3/2}} + \frac{k^2 \left(|\nu| - \nu - 2\right)}{4 \left(|\nu| - 1\right) \left(-\eta\right)^{|\nu| - 7/2}} + \frac{k^4 \left(|\nu| - \nu - 4\right)}{32 \left(|\nu| - 1\right) \left(|\nu| - 2\right) \left(-\eta\right)^{|\nu| - 11/2}}\right] \,. \end{split}$$

$$(D.2)$$

The contribution to the noise in x becomes

$$\Xi_{x,x}(N) = \bar{g}(\nu,\lambda,\sigma)\kappa^2 H_{\star}^2 \exp\left[-\frac{3-2\nu}{\nu-1/2}\left(N_{\star}-N\right)\right], \qquad (D.3)$$

with

$$\bar{g}(\nu,\lambda,\sigma) := \frac{\Gamma^{2}(|\nu|)2^{2|\nu|}}{(12\pi)^{3}} \frac{(6-\lambda^{2})^{2}}{\sigma^{2|\nu|-3}} \left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)^{2|\nu|+2} \left[(|\nu|-\nu)^{2} + \frac{\sigma^{2}}{2} \frac{(|\nu|-\nu)(|\nu|-\nu-2)}{(|\nu|-1)} \left(\nu-\frac{1}{2}\right)^{2} + \frac{\sigma^{4}}{16} \frac{\left[(|\nu|-\nu)^{2} - 4(|\nu|-\nu)\right] [2|\nu|-3] + 4(|\nu|-2)}{(|\nu|-1)^{2}(|\nu|-2)} \left(\nu-\frac{1}{2}\right)^{4} \right]$$
(D.4)

For positive ν , the above equation is simplified to

$$\bar{g}(\nu > 0, \lambda, \sigma) := \frac{\Gamma^2(|\nu|)2^{2|\nu|}}{(12\pi)^3} \frac{(6-\lambda^2)^2}{\sigma^{2|\nu|-3}} \left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)^{2|\nu|+2} \left[\frac{\sigma^4}{4} \frac{1}{\left(|\nu|-1\right)^2} \left(\nu-\frac{1}{2}\right)^4\right] \quad (\mathsf{D}.5)$$

The variance in the case of quasi-de Sitter inflation ($\nu=3/2-\epsilon)$ is given by

$$\sigma_{x,qu}^2 = \frac{1}{24\pi^2} H_{\star}^2 \kappa^2 \sigma^{4-\epsilon} \left(1 + 4\epsilon\right) \left[1 - \exp\left(-6(N - N_{\star})\right)\right] . \tag{D.6}$$

Since N is growing with time the exponential vanishes quickly and eventually the time at which $\sigma^2_{x,qu}=1$ is

$$H(N) = \sqrt{3\pi} \left(1 - 2\epsilon\right) rac{M_{pl}}{\sigma^{2-\epsilon/2}} \ ,$$
 (D.7)

and since $\sigma < 1$ we see quantum diffusion drives us away only if the Hubble rate is far above the Planck scale. We note this result stays true for $N \approx N_{\star}$ since in this case we have

$$H(N) = \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \left(1 - 2\epsilon\right) \frac{M_{pl}}{\sigma^{2 - \epsilon/2}} . \tag{D.8}$$

E

A different approach to find the noise

We know that $\dot{\varphi}$ can be related to its momentum $\pi \equiv \partial \mathcal{L} / \partial \dot{\varphi}$ using the ADM formalism, as shown in [40], by

$$\dot{arphi}=rac{1}{a(t)^3}\pi_arphi$$
 , (E.1)

where the lapse function N was chosen as the cosmic time, which means that N = 1. Also, the evolution for π_{φ} is given by

$$\dot{\pi}_arphi = -a(t)^3 V_{,arphi} \;,$$
 (E.2)

where ", φ " represents the derivative with respect to φ .

We get the linearly perturbed momentum including scalar field perturbations

$$\pi + \delta \pi = \frac{\partial \left(\mathcal{L} + \delta \mathcal{L}\right)}{\partial \left(\frac{1}{1+A}\dot{\varphi}\right)} = (1+A) \frac{\partial \left(\mathcal{L} + \delta \mathcal{L}\right)}{\partial \dot{\varphi}} \tag{E.3}$$

where we have also perturbed the lapse function t
ightarrow (1+A)t. The perturbed momentum is then

$$egin{aligned} \delta \pi &= A rac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{arphi}} + rac{\partial \delta \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{arphi}} \ &= a^3 \left(\dot{\delta arphi} - A \dot{arphi}
ight) \end{aligned}$$
 (E.4)

We may use the constraint $A = \kappa^2 \dot{\varphi} \delta \varphi / 2H$ to eliminate the perturbed lapse function since we are working in the spatially-flat gauge [37]. Using the definition of the coarse-graining scale (5.25) in the expressions for the field and its conjugate momentum

$$\delta\varphi = \frac{i}{\sqrt{4\pi}} \left(\frac{2}{2\nu - 1}\right) \frac{2^{|\nu|} \Gamma(|\nu|)}{k^{|\nu|}} \frac{H}{(-\eta)^{|\nu| - 3/2}} , \qquad (E.5)$$

$$\delta \pi_{\varphi} = \frac{i}{\sqrt{4\pi}} \frac{2^{|\nu|} \Gamma(|\nu|)}{k^{|\nu|}} \left(\nu - \frac{1}{2}\right)^4 \left[\left(\frac{2}{2\nu - 1}\right) \left(|\nu| - \nu\right) - \frac{\kappa^2 \dot{\varphi}^2}{2H^2} \right] \frac{1}{H(-\eta)^{|\nu| + 3/2}} , \quad (\mathsf{E.6})$$

we get

$$|\delta\varphi|^{2} = \frac{\Gamma^{2}(|\nu|)2^{2|\nu|}H^{2}}{4\pi\sigma^{2|\nu|}} \left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)^{2|\nu|+2} \frac{1}{(-\eta)^{-3}}, \qquad (E.7)$$

$$|\delta\pi|^{2} = \frac{\Gamma^{2}(|\nu|)2^{2|\nu|}}{4\pi\sigma^{2|\nu|}H^{2}} \left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)^{2|\nu|-4} \left[\left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)(|\nu|-\nu) - 4\pi G \frac{\dot{\varphi}^{2}}{H^{2}}\right]^{2} \frac{1}{(-\eta)^{3}}, \quad (\mathsf{E.8})$$

$$\delta\varphi\delta\pi^* = \frac{\Gamma^2(|\nu|)2^{2|\nu|}}{4\pi\sigma^{2|\nu|}} \left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)^{2|\nu|-1} \left[\left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)(|\nu|-\nu) - 4\pi G\frac{\dot{\varphi}^2}{H^2}\right] . \tag{E.9}$$

From this we can work out the two-points correlation matrix associated with the quantum noise with respect to conformal time ξ_{φ} and ξ_{π} [40].

$$\Xi_{\varphi,\varphi}^{(\eta)} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\Gamma^2(|\nu|) 2^{2|\nu|}}{\sigma^{2|\nu|-3}} \left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)^{2|\nu|-1} \frac{H^2(\eta)}{(-\eta)}, \qquad (E.10)$$

$$\Xi_{\pi,\pi}^{(\eta)} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\Gamma^2(|\nu|)2^{2|\nu|}}{\sigma^{2|\nu|-3}} \left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)^{2|\nu|-7} \times \left[\left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)(|\nu|-\nu) - 4\pi G \frac{\dot{\varphi}^2}{H^2(\eta)}\right]^2 \frac{1}{H^2(\eta)(-\eta)^7}, \quad (E.11)$$

$$\Xi_{\varphi,\pi}^{(\eta)} = \Xi_{\pi,\varphi}^{(\eta)} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\Gamma^2(|\nu|)2^{2|\nu|}}{\sigma^{2|\nu|-3}} \left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)^{2|\nu|-4} \\ \times \left[\left(\frac{2}{2\nu-1}\right)(|\nu|-\nu) - 4\pi G \frac{\dot{\varphi}^2}{H^2(\eta)}\right] \frac{1}{(-\eta)^4} . \tag{E.12}$$

Fourier transform on a finite domain

This Appendix is dedicated to show explicitly the solution given by (5.46), while pointing out that the final result depends on a conventional factor. From (5.45), we easily get

$$\sigma_x^2(N) = \sigma_x^2(N_\star) e^{2m(N-N_\star)} + 2 \int_{N_\star}^N dS \, e^{2m(N-S)} \left\langle \hat{\xi}_x(S) \left(\bar{x}(S) - x_c \right) \right\rangle. \tag{F.1}$$

We can reexpress the expectation value in the second term using (5.43) to get

$$\left\langle \hat{\xi}_x(S)\left(\bar{x}(S)-x_c\right) \right
angle = \left\langle \int_{S_\star}^S e^{m(S-U)} \hat{\xi}_x(S) \hat{\xi}_x(U) dU \right
angle \; .$$
 (F.2)

Using the Fubini theorem, we get

$$\left\langle \hat{\xi}_x(S)\left(\bar{x}(S)-x_c\right) \right\rangle = \int_{S_\star}^S e^{m(S-U)} \left\langle \hat{\xi}_x(S)\hat{\xi}_x(U) \right\rangle dU$$
 (F.3)

The variance (F.1) is then

$$\sigma_x^2(N) = \sigma_x^2(N_\star) e^{2m(N-N_\star)} + 2 \int_{N_\star}^N \int_{S_\star}^S dS dU \, e^{m(2N-S-U)} \left\langle \hat{\xi}_x(S) \hat{\xi}_x(U) \right\rangle \;. \tag{F.4}$$

The resolution of (F.1) leads us to consider the following integral:

$$\int_{S_{\star}}^{S} dU e^{m(2N-S-U)} \delta\left(S-U\right) . \tag{F.5}$$

For a general function, we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(x)\delta(x-x')dx = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx f(x) \left[\theta(x-a) - \theta(x-b)\right] \delta(x-x')$$
$$= f(x') \left[\theta(x'-a) - \theta(x'-b)\right], \qquad (F.6)$$

F

what gives in our case

$$\int_{S_{\star}}^{S} dU e^{m(2N-S-U)} \delta(S-U) = e^{2m(N-S)} \left[\theta(S-S_{\star}) - \theta(S-S)\right]$$
$$= e^{2m(N-S)} \left[\theta(S-S_{\star}) - \theta(0)\right] .$$
(F.7)

Using the half-maximum convention for the unit step function, we obtain

$$\int_{S_{\star}}^{S} dU e^{m(2N-S-U)} \delta\left(S-U\right) = \frac{1}{2} e^{2m(N-S)} .$$
 (F.8)

Now, we are able to write the full solution for the variance in x as

$$\sigma_x^2(N) = \sigma_x^2(N_\star) e^{2m(N-N_\star)} + \int_{N_\star}^N dS \, e^{2m(N-S)} \Xi_{xx}(S) \;.$$
 (F.9)

Bibliography

- [1] Y. Akrami et al. Planck 2018 results. X. Constraints on inflation. 2018.
- [2] A. B. Goncharov and A. D. Linde. Chaotic Inflation in Supergravity. Phys. Lett., B139:27-30, 1984.
- [3] A. S. Goncharov and A. D. Linde. Chaotic Inflation of the Universe in Supergravity. Sov. Phys. JETP, 59:930–933, 1984. [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.86,1594(1984)].
- [4] P. A. R. Ade et al. Planck 2015 results. XX. Constraints on inflation. Astron. Astrophys., 594:A20, 2016.
- [5] I. P. C. Heard and D. Wands. Cosmology with positive and negative exponential potentials. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 19:5435–5448, 2002.
- [6] A. A. Starobinsky. A New Type of Isotropic Cosmological Models Without Singularity. *Phys. Lett.*, B91:99–102, 1980. [,771(1980)].
- [7] A. A. Starobinsky. Evolution of Small Excitation of Isotropic Cosmological Models With One Loop Quantum Gravitation Corrections. (In Russian). *Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.*, 34:460– 463, 1981.
- [8] A. A. Starobinsky. Dynamics of Phase Transition in the New Inflationary Universe Scenario and Generation of Perturbations. *Phys. Lett.*, B117:175–178, 1982.
- [9] K. Sato. First Order Phase Transition of a Vacuum and Expansion of the Universe. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 195:467–479, 1981.
- [10] A. H. Guth. The Inflationary Universe: A Possible Solution to the Horizon and Flatness Problems. *Phys. Rev.*, D23:347–356, 1981. [Adv. Ser. Astrophys. Cosmol.3,139(1987)].
- [11] A. D. Linde. A New Inflationary Universe Scenario: A Possible Solution of the Horizon, Flatness, Homogeneity, Isotropy and Primordial Monopole Problems. *Phys. Lett.*, 108B:389–393, 1982. [Adv. Ser. Astrophys. Cosmol.3,149(1987)].

- [12] A. D. Linde. Chaotic Inflation. Phys. Lett., B129:177-181, 1983.
- [13] G. Hinshaw et al. Nine-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Cosmological Parameter Results. Astrophys. J. Suppl., 208:19, 2013.
- [14] F. L. Bezrukov and D. S. Gorbunov. Distinguishing between R²-inflation and Higgsinflation. *Phys. Lett.*, B713:365–368, 2012.
- [15] J. Martin, C. Ringeval, R. Trotta, and V. Vennin. The Best Inflationary Models After Planck. JCAP, 1403:039, 2014.
- [16] J. Martin, C. Ringeval, and V. Vennin. Encyclopaedia Inflationaris. Phys. Dark Univ., 5-6:75–235, 2014.
- [17] V. Vennin, K. Koyama, and D. Wands. Encyclopaedia curvatonis. JCAP, 1511:008, 2015.
- [18] V. Vennin, K. Koyama, and D. Wands. Inflation with an extra light scalar field after Planck. JCAP, 1603(03):024, 2016.
- [19] J. Martin. What have the Planck data taught us about inflation? Class. Quant. Grav., 33(3):034001, 2016.
- [20] T. P. Sotiriou and V. Faraoni. f(R) Theories Of Gravity. Rev. Mod. Phys., 82:451–497, 2010.
- [21] A. R. Liddle. The Inflationary energy scale. *Phys. Rev.*, D49:739–747, 1994.
- [22] R. Kallosh and A. Linde. Universality Class in Conformal Inflation. JCAP, 1307:002, 2013.
- [23] M. Galante, R. Kallosh, A. Linde, and D. Roest. Unity of Cosmological Inflation Attractors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 114(14):141302, 2015.
- [24] R. Kallosh and A. Linde. Planck, LHC, and α -attractors. *Phys. Rev.*, D91:083528, 2015.
- [25] M. Gasperini and G. Veneziano. Pre big bang in string cosmology. Astropart. Phys., 1:317-339, 1993.
- [26] J. Khoury, B. A. Ovrut, P. J. Steinhardt, and Neil Turok. The ekpyrotic universe: Colliding branes and the origin of the hot big bang. *Phys. Rev.*, D64:123522, 2001.
- [27] D. Wands. Cosmological perturbations through the big bang. Advanced Science Letters, 2(2):194–204, 2009.

- [28] F. Lucchin and S. Matarrese. Power-law inflation. Phys. Rev. D, 32:1316–1322, Sep 1985.
- [29] Y. Kitada and K. Maeda. Cosmic no-hair theorem in homogeneous spacetimes. i. bianchi models. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 10(4):703, 1993.
- [30] D. Wands, Ed. J. Copeland, and A. R. Liddle. Exponential potentials, scaling solutions and inflation. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 688(1):647–652, 1993.
- [31] C. Wetterich. The cosmon model for an asymptotically vanishing time dependent cosmological 'constant'. Astron. Astrophys., 301:321–328, 1995.
- [32] L. Amendola. Scaling solutions in general nonminimal coupling theories. Phys. Rev., D60:043501, 1999.
- [33] A. A. Starobinsky. Stochastic De Sitter (inflationary) stage in the early universe. Lect. Notes Phys., 246:107–126, 1986.
- [34] Y. Nambu and M. Sasaki. Stochastic stage of an inflationary universe model. *Physics Letters B*, 205(4):441–446, 1988.
- [35] H. E. Kandrup. Stochastic inflation as a time-dependent random walk. *Physical Review D*, 39(8):2245, 1989.
- [36] K. Nakao, Y. Nambu, and M. Sasaki. Stochastic dynamics of new inflation. Progress of Theoretical Physics, 80(6):1041–1068, 1988.
- [37] C. Pattison, V. Vennin, H. Assadullahi, and D. Wands. Stochastic inflation beyond slow roll. JCAP, 1907(07):031, 2019.
- [38] D. Glavan, T. Prokopec, and A. A. Starobinsky. Stochastic dark energy from inflationary quantum fluctuations. *Eur. Phys. J.*, C78(5):371, 2018.
- [39] R. J. Hardwick, T. Markkanen, and S. Nurmi. Renormalisation group improvement in the stochastic formalism. JCAP, 1909(09):023, 2019.
- [40] J. Grain and V. Vennin. Stochastic inflation in phase space: Is slow roll a stochastic attractor? JCAP, 1705(05):045, 2017.
- [41] T. Miranda, J. C. Fabris, and O. F. Piattella. Reconstructing a f(R) theory from the α -Attractors. *JCAP*, 1709(09):041, 2017.
- [42] T. Miranda, C. Escamilla-Rivera, O. F. Piattella, and J. C. Fabris. Generic slow-roll and non-gaussianity parameters in f(R) theories. *JCAP*, 1905(05):028, 2019.

- [43] T. Miranda, E. Frion, and D. Wands. Stochastic collapse. JCAP, 2001(01):026, 2020.
- [44] A. R. Liddle and D. H. Lyth. Cosmological inflation and large scale structure. 2000.
- [45] S. Dodelson. Modern Cosmology. Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2003.
- [46] V. Mukhanov. Physical Foundations of Cosmology. Cambridge University Press, Oxford, 2005.
- [47] D. Baumann. Inflation. In Physics of the large and the small, TASI 09, proceedings of the Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics, Boulder, Colorado, USA, 1-26 June 2009, pages 523–686, 2011.
- [48] O. F. Piattella. Lecture Notes in Cosmology. UNITEXT for Physics. Springer, Cham, 2018.
- [49] R. H. Brandenberger. Inflationary cosmology: Progress and problems. In IPM School on Cosmology 1999: Large Scale Structure Formation Tehran, Iran, January 23-February 4, 1999, 1999.
- [50] E. Hubble. A relation between distance and radial velocity among extra-galactic nebulae. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., 15:168–173, 1929.
- [51] G. Gamow. Expanding universe and the origin of elements. *Phys. Rev.*, 70:572–573, 1946.
- [52] R. H. Dicke, P. J. E. Peebles, P. G. Roll, and D. T. Wilkinson. Cosmic Black-Body Radiation. Astrophys. J., 142:414–419, 1965.
- [53] M.J. Reid, D.W. Pesce, and A.G. Riess. An Improved Distance to NGC 4258 and its Implications for the Hubble Constant. Astrophys. J., 886(2):L27, 2019.
- [54] N. Aghanim et al. Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters. 2018.
- [55] P. A. R. Ade et al. Improved Constraints on Cosmology and Foregrounds from BICEP2 and Keck Array Cosmic Microwave Background Data with Inclusion of 95 GHz Band. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 116:031302, 2016.
- [56] Y. Akrami et al. Planck 2018 results. I. Overview and the cosmological legacy of Planck. 2018.
- [57] S. Weinberg. Cosmology. 2008.

- [58] A. D. Linde. Particle physics and inflationary cosmology. Contemp. Concepts Phys., 5:1–362, 1990.
- [59] L. Kofman, A. D. Linde, and A. A. Starobinsky. Towards the theory of reheating after inflation. *Phys. Rev.*, D56:3258–3295, 1997.
- [60] J. Martin. Inflation and precision cosmology. Braz. J. Phys., 34:1307-1321, 2004.
- [61] G. Obied, H. Ooguri, L. Spodyneiko, and C. Vafa. De Sitter Space and the Swampland. 2018.
- [62] P. Agrawal, G. Obied, P. J. Steinhardt, and C. Vafa. On the Cosmological Implications of the String Swampland. *Phys. Lett.*, B784:271–276, 2018.
- [63] E. D. Stewart and D. H. Lyth. A More accurate analytic calculation of the spectrum of cosmological perturbations produced during inflation. *Phys. Lett.*, B302:171–175, 1993.
- [64] H. Kodama and M. Sasaki. Cosmological Perturbation Theory. Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl., 78:1–166, 1984.
- [65] V. F. Mukhanov. Quantum Theory of Gauge Invariant Cosmological Perturbations. Sov. Phys. JETP, 67:1297–1302, 1988. [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.94N7,1(1988)].
- [66] V. F. Mukhanov, H. A. Feldman, and R. H. Brandenberger. Theory of cosmological perturbations. Part 1. Classical perturbations. Part 2. Quantum theory of perturbations. Part 3. Extensions. *Phys. Rept.*, 215:203–333, 1992.
- [67] K. A. Malik and D. Wands. Cosmological perturbations. *Phys. Rept.*, 475:1–51, 2009.
- [68] R. H. Brandenberger. Lectures on the theory of cosmological perturbations. Lect. Notes Phys., 646:127–167, 2004.
- [69] P. Peter and J. Uzan. Primordial Cosmology. Oxford Graduate Texts. Oxford University Press, 2013.
- [70] V. F. Mukhanov, L. A. Kofman, and D. Yu. Pogosian. Cosmological Perturbations in the Inflationary Universe. *Phys. Lett.*, B193:427–432, 1987.
- [71] M. Sasaki. Large Scale Quantum Fluctuations in the Inflationary Universe. Prog. Theor. Phys., 76:1036, 1986.
- [72] A. A. Starobinsky. Spectrum of relict gravitational radiation and the early state of the universe. JETP Lett., 30:682–685, 1979. [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.30,719(1979)].

- [73] S. A. Appleby, R. A. Battye, and A. A. Starobinsky. Curing singularities in cosmological evolution of F(R) gravity. JCAP, 1006:005, 2010.
- [74] J. D. Barrow and S. Cotsakis. Inflation and the Conformal Structure of Higher Order Gravity Theories. *Phys. Lett.*, B214:515–518, 1988.
- [75] S. Tsujikawa. Distinguishing between inflationary models from cosmic microwave background. PTEP, 2014(6):06B104, 2014.
- [76] K. Maeda. Towards the Einstein-Hilbert Action via Conformal Transformation. Phys. Rev., D39:3159, 1989.
- [77] J. D. Barrow and S. Cotsakis. Selfregenerating inflationary universe in higher order gravity in arbitrary dimension. *Phys. Lett.*, B258:299–304, 1991.
- [78] B. J. Broy, F. G. Pedro, and A. Westphal. Disentangling the f(R) Duality. JCAP, 1503(03):029, 2015.
- [79] R. Jinno and K. Kaneta. Hillclimbing inflation. 2017.
- [80] R. Jinno, K. Kaneta, and K. Oda. Hillclimbing Higgs inflation. 2017.
- [81] M. Amin, S. Khalil, and M. Salah. A viable logarithmic f(R) model for inflation. JCAP, 1608(08):043, 2016.
- [82] L. Sebastiani, G. Cognola, R. Myrzakulov, S. D. Odintsov, and S. Zerbini. Nearly Starobinsky inflation from modified gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D89(2):023518, 2014.
- [83] L. Sebastiani and R. Myrzakulov. F(R) gravity and inflation. Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys., 12(9):1530003, 2015.
- [84] J. Garcia-Bellido and D. Roest. Large-N running of the spectral index of inflation. Phys. Rev., D89(10):103527, 2014.
- [85] C. Longden. Non-standard hierarchies of the runnings of the spectral index in inflation. 2017. [Universe3,17(2017)].
- [86] J. B. Muñoz, E. D. Kovetz, A. Raccanelli, M. Kamionkowski, and J. Silk. Towards a measurement of the spectral runnings. 2016.
- [87] H. Motohashi. Consistency relation for R^p inflation. *Phys. Rev.*, D91:064016, 2015.
- [88] J. M. Maldacena. Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models. JHEP, 05:013, 2003.

- [89] A. De Felice and S. Tsujikawa. Primordial non-Gaussianities in general modified gravitational models of inflation. JCAP, 1104:029, 2011.
- [90] Y. Akrami et al. Planck 2018 results. IX. Constraints on primordial non-Gaussianity. 5 2019.
- [91] S. Garcia-Saenz, L. Pinol, and S. Renaux-Petel. Revisiting non-Gaussianity in multifield inflation with curved field space. *JHEP*, 01:073, 2020.
- [92] S.W. Hawking and R. Penrose. The Singularities of gravitational collapse and cosmology. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A, A314:529–548, 1970.
- [93] A. Borde and A. Vilenkin. Eternal inflation and the initial singularity. Phys. Rev. Lett., 72:3305–3309, 1994.
- [94] Y. Akrami, R. Kallosh, A. Linde, and V. Vardanyan. The Landscape, the Swampland and the Era of Precision Cosmology. *Fortsch. Phys.*, 67(1-2):1800075, 2019.
- [95] J. Martin and R. H. Brandenberger. The TransPlanckian problem of inflationary cosmology. Phys. Rev. D, 63:123501, 2001.
- [96] M. Novello and J.M. Salim. Nonlinear photons in the universe. Phys. Rev. D, 20:377– 383, 1979.
- [97] V.N. Melnikov and S.V. Orlov. Nonsingular cosmology as a quantum vacuum effect. *Phys. Lett. A*, 70:263–265, 1979.
- [98] M. Novello and S.E.Perez Bergliaffa. Bouncing Cosmologies. Phys. Rept., 463:127–213, 2008.
- [99] P. Peter and N. Pinto-Neto. Cosmology without inflation. Phys. Rev., D78:063506, 2008.
- [100] D. Battefeld and P. Peter. A critical review of classical bouncing cosmologies. *Physics Reports*, 571:1–66, 2015.
- [101] R. Brandenberger and P. Peter. Bouncing cosmologies: progress and problems. Foundations of Physics, 47(6):797–850, 2017.
- [102] A. Ijjas and P. J. Steinhardt. Bouncing Cosmology made simple. Class. Quant. Grav., 35(13):135004, 2018.
- [103] J. K. Erickson, D. H. Wesley, P. J. Steinhardt, and N. Turok. Kasner and mixmaster behavior in universes with equation of state w >= 1. *Phys. Rev.*, D69:063514, 2004.

- [104] D. Wands, K. A. Malik, D. H. Lyth, and A. R. Liddle. New approach to the evolution of cosmological perturbations on large scales. *Phys. Rev. D*, 62:043527, Jul 2000.
- [105] B. Oksendal. Stochastic differential equations: an introduction with applications. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [106] Y. B. Zeldovich and I. D. Novikov. *Relativistic astrophysics. Vol. 2. The structure and evolution of the Universe.* 1983.
- [107] D. Wands. Duality invariance of cosmological perturbation spectra. Phys. Rev., D60:023507, 1999.
- [108] F. Finelli and R. Brandenberger. On the generation of a scale invariant spectrum of adiabatic fluctuations in cosmological models with a contracting phase. *Phys. Rev.*, D65:103522, 2002.
- [109] P. Peter, E. J. C. Pinho, and N. Pinto-Neto. A Non inflationary model with scale invariant cosmological perturbations. *Phys. Rev.*, D75:023516, 2007.
- [110] L. F. Guimarães, F. T. Falciano, and G. Brando. Quasimatter bounce equivalent to Starobinsky inflation. *Phys. Rev.*, D99(10):103515, 2019.
- [111] L. E. Allen and D. Wands. Cosmological perturbations through a simple bounce. *Phys. Rev.*, D70:063515, 2004.
- [112] G. W. Horndeski. Second-order scalar-tensor field equations in a four-dimensional space. *Int. J. Theor. Phys.*, 10:363–384, 1974.
- [113] M. Lilley and P. Peter. Bouncing alternatives to inflation. Comptes Rendus Physique, 16(10):1038–1047, 2015.
- [114] P. Peter and N. Pinto-Neto. Cosmology without inflation. Physical Review D, 78(6):063506, 2008.